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33 N. High St.
Columbus, Ohio 43215
614-228-1776

July 27, 2020

To Members of the Central Ohio Transit Authority Board of Trustees and the Citizens of Central
Ohio:

We are pleased to present our Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) of the Central
Ohio Transit Authority (COTA) for the year ended December 31, 2019. This CAFR includes
financial statements and other financial and statistical data which conforms to generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States of America (GAAP) and in conformance with standards
of financial reporting as established by the Government Finance Officers Association of the United
States and Canada (GFOA).

COTA'’s Finance Division is responsible for the accuracy of the data and the completeness and
fairness of the presentation, including all disclosures. To the best of our knowledge and belief,
the enclosed data is accurate in all material respects and is reported in a manner designed to fairly
present the financial position and results of operations of COTA. COTA is responsible for
establishing and maintaining an internal control structure designed to protect its assets from loss,
theft or misuse. The internal control structure is designed to provide reasonable, rather than
absolute, assurance that the financial statements are free of any material misstatements. The
concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that the cost of a control should not exceed the
benefits likely to be derived and that the valuation of costs and benefits requires estimates and
judgments by management.

We believe the data presented is accurate in all material aspects and that all disclosures necessary
to enable the reader to acquire the maximum understanding of the Authority’s financial activity
have been included.

Clark Schaefer Hackett has issued an unmodified (“clean”) opinion on COTA’s financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2019. The independent auditor concluded, based
upon the audit, that there was a reasonable basis for rendering an unmodified opinion that the
Authority’s financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 are fairly presented in
conformity with GAAP. The Independent Auditor’s Report is presented as the first component of
the financial section of this report.

COTA participates in the federal single audit program, which consists of a single audit of all
federally-funded programs administered by COTA. As a requirement for continued funding
eligibility, participation in the single audit program is mandatory for most local governments,
including COTA. The single audit, performed by Clark Schaefer Hackett met the requirements set
forth by the State of Ohio, and the audit requirements of Title 2 “U.S. Code of Federal Regulations
Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for
Federal Awards” (Uniform Guidance).



GAAP requires that management provide a narrative introduction, overview and analysis to
accompany the basic financial statements in the form of Management’s Discussion and Analysis
(MD&A). This Letter of Transmittal is designed to complement the MD&A and should be read in
conjunction with it. COTA’s MD&A can be found immediately following the Independent
Auditor’s Report.

REPORTING ENTITY
General

COTA is an independent political subdivision of the State of Ohio with its own taxing power. It
was established by an agreement executed on February 17, 1971 with Franklin County and the
cities of Bexley, Columbus, Gahanna, Grandview Heights, Grove City, Hilliard, Reynoldsburg,
Upper Arlington, Westerville, Whitehall and Worthington. In 2008, an amended agreement
added the city of Dublin to COTA.

COTA is not dependent upon appropriations from any political subdivision for local funding. It is
empowered by Ohio Revised Code to issue general obligation debt secured by its own taxing
power.

Governance

COTA is governed by a Board of Trustees vested by Ohio law with the powers necessary to manage
COTA. The legislation and agreements establish that COTA provide for a 13-member board
serving overlapping three-year terms. Board membership is apportioned as follows: City of
Columbus, seven members; Franklin County, two members; and four members prorated among
the eleven municipal corporations including Bexley, Dublin, Gahanna, Grandview Heights, Grove
City, Hilliard, Reynoldsburg, Upper Arlington, Westerville, Whitehall and Worthington. The
appointments of the members within the group rotate among the municipal corporations.
Members are appointed by the Mayor of the appropriate municipal corporation with the consent
of its City Council. The Franklin County Board of Commissioners appoints the Franklin County
representatives.

Administration

The President/CEO, who is appointed by the Board, directs the administration of COTA, subject
to the policies and supervision of the Board. The President/CEO selects the senior leadership
team. A Table of Organization depicting the key functional responsibilities is shown on page 9 of
the introductory section.

Services Provided

COTA provides public transportation services within 562 square miles of Franklin County as well
as in portions of Delaware, Fairfield, Licking and Union counties. In 2019, service included 42
Frequent, Standard and Rush Hour routes, mainstream services, and special services such as the
CBUS downtown circulator, CMAX Bus Rapid Transit, AirConnect (providing service to John
Glenn International Airport), the Zoo Bus (providing service to the Columbus Zoo and Aquarium),
Bus it to the Buckeyes (providing services to all home Ohio State University football games), and
expanded service to Red White and Boom!, Central Ohio’s Independence Day celebration.
Additionally, COTA expanded its’ services in 2019 to include on-demand microtransit through
COTA//Plus and COTA Mainstream On-Demand.



Generally, COTA makes improvements and adjustments to its fixed-route system three times a
year. These changes are based on four key areas — increased service frequency, expanded service
area coverage, expanded hours of operation and decreased travel times. These changes occur in
January, May and September. At the end of 2019, COTA operated 1,231,472 annualized scheduled
service hours based on fixed-route services.

Expanding and modernizing COTA'’s fleet of passenger coaches is an essential component toward
initiating these improvements. At the end of 2019, there were 322 fixed-route buses in COTA’s
fleet, with 184 being eco-friendly hybrids or powered by compressed natural gas (CNG). A 12-year
conversion program that began in 2013 will phase all diesel-powered, fixed-route buses out of the
fleet.

Mainstream is a demand-response, shared-ride paratransit service available to individuals whose
disabilities prevent them from accessing COTA’s fixed-route bus system. Mainstream provides
transportation when a customer’s origin and destination addresses are within three-quarters of a
mile of an operating fixed-route line. The contracted service for Mainstream operates during the
same hours as fixed-route bus service. Individuals wishing to use the service must complete an
eligibility process and obtain an Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) ID card. Certified
customers must maintain their eligibility by recertifying every three years.

In 2019, COTA provided over 19.1 million rides, representing the highest ridership level since
1988.

Major Initiatives

COTA’s major initiatives are organized around safety, innovation and the customer experience.
Highlights of accomplishments and new initiatives undertaken in 2019 are detailed below.

Strategic Plan

In July, the Board of Trustees passed a resolution to adopt the Moving Every Life Forward
Strategic Plan for 2019 — 2024 (Plan). The plan was a result of collaborative research, interviews
and discussions with hundreds of individuals, community organizations, peer transit agencies and
COTA Board members and employees, delivering a diverse and innovative set of ideas to serve as
the basis for transforming and advancing mobility in the region.

As part of the approved plan, COTA’s vision and mission statements were updated to reflect our
integral role in the social and economic well-being of Central Ohio.

VISION: To move every life forward

MISSION: We provide solutions that connect people to prosperity through
innovation, dedication and teamwork

At the center of COTA's Strategic Plan is a commitment to Equity, Diversity and Inclusion. By
embracing diverse and inclusive ideas, COTA will drive creativity, innovation and engagement
across the organization, developing a stronger and more effective workforce and more
comprehensive services to meet the needs of COTA’s customers.



The plan includes four Guiding Principles that link directly to equity, diversity and inclusion and
drive the initiatives that will make the plan a reality. Those are:

= Improve the Customer Experience; to serve current and future customers and deliver an
experience that is easy to use, reliable and convenient.

= Provide Mobility Option: to enhance service delivery to customers through partnerships
with innovative organizations.

= Prioritize the Use of Data and Analytics: to make better decisions, enhance services and
enhance safety.

= Achieve Organizational Excellence: to make COTA employee focused, collaborative and
innovative.

Connector

In October, COTA unveiled a mobile payment option, COTA//Connector, providing occasional
customers an option for a convenient, secure and cashless form of paying for and boarding COTA'’s
fixed-route mass transit service. Between October and December, Connector was the payment
option of choice for 49,000 rides.

A new, modern Customer Experience Center

Enhancing the customer experience from the moment a fare is purchased to the moment a
destination is reached is one of our most important endeavors. In November, 2019, COTA
unveiled the Customer Experience Center (CEC), a welcoming space that connects customers to
mobility solutions through innovation and personal engagement.

COTA//Plus

In mid-2019, COTA launched its first on-demand microtransit pilot, connecting fixed-route
customers to destinations within a zone in Grove City, a growing suburb southwest of Columbus.
Customers within the zone can hail a vehicle using the COTA//Plus app and within minutes
their ride will arrive. This service fills first and last mile gaps and allows customers to easily
access critical destinations, including Mount Carmel Grove City Hospital, the Mid-Ohio Food
Collective, dozens of employers and retail centers.

Mainstream On-Demand

Mainstream On-Demand was initiated in 2019 and provides extended services to our certified
Mainstream customers. Same-day, direct travel beyond the traditional three-quarter-mile zone
is available for a higher fare. Trips may be requested with as little as one-hour notice between
5:30am and 10:00pm on weekdays and 7:30am and 7:30pm on weekends. This service exceeds
the federal ADA mandate and is operated by TNC-style subcontractors.

Fields Avenue Facility Improvements

Located at 1333 Fields Avenue is one of COTA'’s two fixed-route bus operations and maintenance
facilities. In 2019 construction was started on a multi-year modernization and retrofit project to
convert this major facility from a diesel fuel based operation to CNG. This conversion consists of
the construction of a new CNG fueling station and the safety enhancements required to make the
existing operation and maintenance facility compliant to service CNG fueled vehicles. In addition
to these CNG related components, other building and maintenance equipment will be updated
including the roof, bus wash, several bus lifts, and facilities for personnel. This project will be
completed in the first quarter of 2021.



ECONOMIC OUTLOOK

As the most populous city in Ohio, Columbus is only one of two major municipalities in the state
that experienced a population growth between 2018 and 2019. This growth has attributed to the
strong local economy going into 2020. In light of COTA’s reliance on sales tax revenue, the
economy of the Central Ohio region is critical to funding the mobility services provided to the
community. The region’s economy consists largely of professional and service sectors with a focus
on education, healthcare, finance, insurance and banking.

In March 2020, the economy was significantly stalled as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. Stay-
at-home orders in place between March 23, 2020 and May 1, 2020 severely crippled the economy.
The impact of COVID, and in particular unemployment and consumer spending, is exemplified
in sales tax receipts received by COTA during the first half of 2020. Year-to-date (YTD) receipts
through May reflected a 3.3% increase over 2019 collections. However, YTD receipts through June
reflected a minimal 0.1% increase over 2019, with June reflecting a 15% decrease over 2020. That
decrease is expected to continue given that sales tax receipts received by COTA reflect spending
activity approximately three months in arears.

The financial stewardship demonstrated by the Board of Trustees and of COTA leadership past
and present has resulted in the Authority’s strong financial position. The financial challenges
brought upon by COVID and expected for the foreseeable future are met with sufficient resources
to continue providing much needed essential services during this time of need.

The Board of Trustees and the Leadership Team of COTA continue to closely monitor the regional
and local economy for impacts on COTA's financial position.

FISCAL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES
Internal Control Structure

The management of COTA is responsible for establishing and maintaining an adequate internal
control structure. Internal accounting controls are designed to ensure that COTA’s assets are
protected from loss, theft or misuse and that adequate accounting data are compiled to allow for
the preparation of the financial statements in conformity with GAAP. The internal control
structure is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that these objectives are
met. The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that: (1) the cost of the control should not
exceed the benefits likely to be derived; and (2) the valuation of costs and benefits require
estimates and judgment by management.

We believe COTA's internal control structure adequately safeguards assets and provides
reasonable assurance of proper recording of financial transactions. Because of inherent
limitations in any internal control structure, errors or irregularities nevertheless may occur and
not be detected. Also, projection of any evaluation of the system to future periods is subject to the
risk that procedures may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or the degree of
compliance with the procedures may deteriorate.



Basis of Accounting

COTA's financial records are maintained on the accrual basis of accounting. The activities are
accounted for in a single enterprise, proprietary-type, fund. Additional information on COTA'’s
accounting policies can be found in Note 2 in the Notes to the Financial Statements located on
page 27.

Budgetary Controls

In addition to internal accounting controls, COTA maintains budgetary controls. The objective of
these budgetary controls is to ensure compliance with legal provisions embodied in the annual
appropriation resolution approved by the Board of Trustees. This resolution is approved by the
Board of Trustees in a public meeting, typically held in the month preceding a new fiscal year.
Amendments to the annual appropriations, if needed, are approved by the Board of Trustees in a
public meeting(s) throughout the fiscal year. The annual budget is prepared to support projects
and initiatives identified as part of the Authority’s strategic plan.

Management control for the budget is maintained by not permitting total expenditures to exceed
total appropriations without approval of the Board of Trustees. It is the responsibility of each
Division to administer its operations in a manner to ensure that the use of funds is consistent with
the goals and programs authorized by the Board of Trustees. Financial statements prepared on a
budgetary basis, in accordance with generally-accepted accounting principles, have been provided
on page 52 to demonstrate budgetary compliance.

OTHER INFORMATION
Use of This Report

This report is published to provide to the Board of Trustees, as well as to Central Ohio residents
and other interested persons, detailed information concerning the financial condition of
COTA. We believe the information, as presented, is accurate in all material respects; that it is
presented in a manner designed to fairly set forth the financial activity of the Authority; and
that all disclosures necessary to enable the reader to gain the maximum understanding of the
COTAs financial activity have been included. Copies of this report will be available on COTA'’s
website at www.cota.com.

2019 Awards and Recognition
COTA is proud to have been recognized locally and nationally in 2019.

In October, the Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission (MORPC) awarded the C-Pass
program with the Collaborative Achievement in Sustainability Award. The partnership
between the Capital Crossroads Special Improvement District, MORPC, and COTA has
transformed the way that people commute to and from Downtown using COTA services.

The Healthy Business Council of Ohio recognizes Ohio employers that have demonstrated a
commitment to their employees’ health by providing comprehensive worksite health
promotion and wellness programs. In December, the Council awarded COTA the Healthy
Worksite Award.

COTA was recognized by the Columbus Young Professional Club as a Wonderful Workplace
for Young Professionals.



The GFOA awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to COTA
for its CAFR for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018. The Certificate of Achievement is
the highest form of recognition for excellence in financial reporting. This was the 30th
consecutive year that COTA has achieved this prestigious award. In order to be awarded a
Certificate of Achievement, a government must publish an easily readable and efficiently
organized CAFR. This report must satisfy both GAAP and applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe that our current
CAFR continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program's requirements and we are
submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate.
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14 East Main Street, Suite 500, Springfield, Ohio 45502
CPAS & ADVISORS P. 937.399.2000 | F 937.399.5433 | cshco.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

Board of Trustees

Central Ohio Transit Authority
33 North High Street
Columbus, Ohio 43215

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Central Ohio Transit Authority (the
Authority), as of and for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the related notes to the
financial statements, which collectively comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements as listed in the
table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinions.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Central Ohio Transit Authority as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the
changes in its financial position and its cash flows thereof for the years then ended in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

REMARKABLE 12



Subsequent Event Footnote

As discussed in Note 14 to the financial statements, the financial impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and
the ensuing emergency measures will impact subsequent periods of the Authority. Our opinion is not
modified with respect to this matter.

Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis, the schedules of net pension liabilities and pension contributions and the
schedules of net OPEB liabilities and OPEB contributions, as listed in the table of contents, be presented
to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information
and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements. The introductory section, supplemental
budget versus actual schedule, and the statistical section are presented for purposes of additional
analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The supplemental budget versus actual schedule is the responsibility of management and was derived
from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit
of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling
such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion,
the supplemental budget versus actual schedule is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the
basic financial statements as a whole.

The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the
audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any
assurance on them.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated July 27, 2020
on our consideration of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the
Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Clark, faéaafe/j Hackett & O,

Springfield, Ohio
July 27, 2020
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

As the management of the Central Ohio Transit Authority (the Authority or COTA), we offer readers of the
Authority’s basic financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the
Authority for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. This discussion and analysis is designed to
assist the reader in focusing on significant financial issues and activities and identifying any significant
changes in financial position. We encourage readers to consider the information presented here, in
conjunction with the basic financial statements and notes to the financial statements, which follows this
section and provides more specific detalil

Overview of Financial Highlights

e The Authority has net position of $318.7 million. Of this amount, $235.7 million is invested in capital
assets, net of accumulated depreciation.

e The Authority’s net position decreased by $17.0 million in 2019 mainly due to increases in the
Authority’s proportionate share of the net pension and OPEB liabilities.

e Current assets of $220.4 million consist of cash and cash equivalents of $149.6 million, receivables of
$51.8 million (sales tax receivables of $36.2 million, federal capital grant receivable of $13.2 million,
other receivables of $1.6 million), inventory of $4.6 million, Board designated assets of $13.2 million
and other assets of $1.2 million.

e Current liabilities of $18.9 million primarily consist of accrued payroll and fringe benefits of $9.1
million, and accounts payable of $5.8 million.

e The Authority’s long-term liabilities of $166.1 million primarily consists of the net pension liability and
net OPEB liability of $110.4 million and $53.4 million, respectively.

Basic Financial Statements and Presentation

The financial statements presented by the Authority are the Statements of Net Position, the Statements of
Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position and the Statements of Cash Flows. These statements are
presented using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. The
Authority is structured as a single enterprise fund with revenues recognized when earned and measurable,
not when received. Expenses are recognized when they are incurred, not when paid. Capital assets are
capitalized and depreciated, except land and construction in progress, over their estimated useful lives.

The Statements of Net Position on page 24 presents information on all of the Authority’s assets, deferred
outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources with the difference between these reported
as net position. Over time, increases and decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether
the financial position of the Authority is improving or deteriorating.

The Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position, on page 25, present information
showing how the Authority’s net position changed during the year. These statements summarize operating
revenues and expenses along with non-operating revenues and expenses. In addition, these statements list
capital grant revenues received from federal and state/local governments.

The Statements of Cash Flows on page 26 allow financial statement users to assess the Authority’s adequacy
or ability to generate sufficient cash flows to meet its obligations in a timely manner. These statements are
classified into four categories: 1) cash flows from operating activities, 2) cash flows from non-capital financing
activities, 3) cash flows from capital and related financing activities, and 4) cash flows from investing activities.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

Notes to the Financial Statements

The notes to the financial statements provide additional information that is essential to full understanding of

the data provided in the financial statements. The notes to the financial statements are on pages 27-47.

Financial Analysis of the Authority

Condensed Summary of Net Position

The Authority’s comparative analysis of the condensed summary of Net Position is as follows:

Description 2019 2018 2017

Assets

Current Assets $ 207,186,510 $ 221,624,227 $ 215,787,832

Board Designated Assets (current) 13,221,556 6,570,941 5,581,092

Total Current Assets 220,408,066 228,195,168 221,368,924
Board Designated Assets (non-current) 15,978,630 15,612,684 15,311,310
Capital Assets (net of accumulated depreciation) 235,687,233 223,016,793 240,968,475
Total Non-Current Assets 251,665,863 238,629,477 256,279,785

Total Assets 472,073,929 466,824,645 477,648,709
Deferred Outflows of Resources 42,313,055 30,083,645 38,718,584
Liabilities

Current Liabilities 18,854,088 17,011,413 18,636,616

Non-Current Other Liabilities 2,389,144 2,403,837 2,978,062

Net Pension Liability 110,351,252 71,271,333 92,665,735

Net OPEB Liability 53,405,611 50,100,594 -

Total Liabilities 185,000,095 140,787,177 114,280,413
Deferred Inflows of Resources 10,720,765 20,437,708 551,501
Net Position

Net Position Invesment in Capital Assets 235,687,233 223,016,793 240,968,475

Net Position Unrestricted 82,978,891 112,666,612 160,566,904

Total Net Position $ 318,666,124 $ 335,683,405 $ 401,535,379

Note: December 31, 2017 balances have not been restated to reflect the impact of GASB Statement No. 75
because the information is not available to calculate the change in the Authority's net position for those years.

The net pension liability (NPL) is reported pursuant to GASB 68, “Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Pensions — an Amendment of GASB Statement 27" and the Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) are
reported in accordance with GASB Statement 75, “Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment
Benefits Other Than Pensions”. These two standards significantly revised accounting for costs and liabilities
related to pension and OPEB plans. For reasons discussed below, many end users of this financial statement
will gain a clearer understanding of the Authority’s actual financial condition by adding deferred inflows related
to pension and OPEB, the net pension liability and the net OPEB liability to the reported net position and
subtracting deferred outflows related to pension and OPEB.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

Governmental Accounting Standards Board standards are national and apply to all government financial
reports prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Prior accounting for pensions
(GASB 27) and postemployment benefits (GASB 45) focused on a funding approach. This approach limited
pension and OPEB costs to contributions annually required by law, which may or may not be sufficient to fully
fund each plan’s net pension liability or OPEB liability. Both GASB 68 and GASB 75 take an earnings
approach to pension and OPEB accounting; however, the nature of Ohio’s statewide pension/OPEB plans
and state law governing those systems requires additional explanation in order to properly understand the
information presented in these statements.

GASB 68 and GASB 75 required the net pension liability and the net OPEB liability to equal the Authority’s
proportionate share of each plan’s collective:

1. Present value of estimated future pension/OPEB benefits attributable to active and inactive
employees’ past service

2. Minus plan assets available to pay these benefits

GASB notes that pension and OPEB obligations, whether funded or unfunded, are part of the “employment
exchange” — that is, the employee is trading his or her labor in exchange for wages, benefits, and the promise
of a future pension and other postemployment benefits. GASB noted that the unfunded portion of this promise
is a present obligation of the government, part of a bargained-for benefit to the employee and should
accordingly be reported by the government as a liability since they received the benefit of the exchange.
However, the Authority is not responsible for certain key factors affecting the balance of these liabilities. In
Ohio, the employee shares the obligation of funding pension benefits with the employer. Both employer and
employee contribution rates are capped by State statute. A change in these caps requires action of both
Houses of the General Assembly and approval of the Governor. Benefit provisions are also determined by
State statute. The Ohio Revised Code permits, but does not require, the retirement systems to provide
healthcare to eligible benefit recipients. The retirement systems may allocate a portion of the employer
contributions to provide for these OPEB benefits.

The employee enters the employment exchange with the knowledge that the employer’s promise is limited not
by contract but by law. The employer enters the exchange also knowing that there is a specific, legal limit to
its contribution to the retirement systems. In Ohio, there is no legal means to enforce the unfunded liability of
the pension/OPEB plan as against the public employer. State law operates to mitigate/lessen the moral
obligation of the public employer to the employee, because all parties enter the employment exchange with
notice as to the law. The pension system is responsible for the administration of the plan.

Most long-term liabilities have set repayment schedules or, in the case of compensated absences (i.e. sick
and vacation leave), are satisfied through paid time-off or termination payments. There is no repayment
schedule for the net pension liability or the net OPEB liability. As explained above, changes in benefits,
contribution rates, and return on investments affect the balance of these liabilities but are outside the control
of the local government. In the event the contributions, investment returns, and other changes are insufficient
to keep up with required payments, State statute does not assign/identify the responsible party for the
unfunded portion. Due to the unique nature of how the net pension liability and the net OPEB liability are
satisfied, these liabilities are separately identified within the long-term liability section of the statement of net
position.

In accordance with GASB 68 and GASB 75, the Authority’s statements include an annual pension expense

and an annual OPEB expense for their proportionate share of each plan’s change in net pension liability and
net OPEB liability, respectively, not accounted for as deferred inflows/outflows.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

Most of the Authority’'s Net Position reflects investment in capital assets such as buses, maintenance
equipment, and operating facilities. The Authority uses these capital assets to provide public transportation
services for Franklin County and portions of the cities of Columbus, Dublin, Reynoldsburg, and Westerville
that are located in counties adjacent to Franklin County. The Authority’s investment in capital assets as of
December 31, 2019 amounts to $235.7 million. This investment in capital assets includes land, buildings and
improvements, revenue vehicles, transit centers, other equipment, and projects in progress (net of
accumulated depreciation). The increase in COTA’s investment in capital assets in 2019 was $12.7 million.

Major capital asset events during 2019 included the following:
e Purchase of 27 Heavy Duty CNG Transit Bus and 20 Paratransit Vehicles
e Sale of 16 Heavy Duty CNG Transit Bus and 21 Paratransit Vehicles

Contributions to construction in progress including the following projects:
e Fields Avenue Renovation
e Downtown Building Improvements
e Development of Information Technology Systems and Infrastructure

Additional information on the Authority’s capital assets can be found in Note 6, page 34 in the Notes to the
Financial Statements.

The Authority’s current assets at the end of 2019 are composed of cash and cash equivalents (73.9%),
receivables (23.5%), inventory (2.1%), and other assets (0.5%) consisting predominately of prepaid
expenses.

In 2019, the Authority’s total liabilities, other than net pension and net OPEB liabilities, increased $1.8 million
due to timing of accruals and large increase in payables related to capital assets at year end. The increase in
net pension liability of $39.1 million and the increase in the net OPEB liability of $3.3 million were due to the
Authority reporting its proportionate share of the State-wide pension system for the year using 2018 as the
measurement year.

Expenses by Functional Category

The Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position are presented on the next page with
explanations and analysis. The Authority’s operating expenses, excluding leases and rentals and
depreciation, can be classified by functional category as defined by the Authority’s National Transit Database
Report (NTDR) and are summarized in the following table:

Description 2019 2018 2017
Vehicle Operations $ 92,751,877 $ 85,742,386 $ 82,556,517
Vehicle Maintenance 32,050,147 27,635,618 25,471,563
Facilities Maintenance 8,760,703 8,085,662 9,322,109
General and Administrative 36,490,242 33,218,305 26,695,646

$ 170,052,969 $ 154,681,971 $ 144,045,835
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

Condensed Summary of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position:

Description 2019 2018 2017
Operating Revenues
Passenger Fare Revenues $ 18,208,917 $ 18,576,996 $ 18,816,434
Special Senices Revenue 822,880 845,027 871,821
Total Operating Revenues 19,031,797 19,422,023 19,688,255

Non-Operating Revenues

Sales Tax Revenues 135,701,616 131,382,944 129,143,144
Federal Operating Assistance 436,008 395,402 112,616
State Operating Assistance 748,250 1,867,863 8,007,414
Investment Income 3,976,278 3,311,564 1,593,939
Non-transportation and Other Revenues 1,557,032 1,221,237 979,088
Total Non-Operating Revenues 142,419,184 138,179,010 139,836,201
Total Revenue before Capital Grants 161,450,981 157,601,033 159,524,456

Operating Expenses

Labor 64,771,226 59,789,565 57,545,900
Fringe Benefits 56,782,782 52,982,981 47,905,632
Materials and Supplies and Fuel 18,607,643 16,846,649 14,169,982
Purchased Transportation 8,778,525 7,869,240 7,668,883
Senices 14,505,867 10,903,982 11,254,073
Other Expenses 6,780,261 6,445,123 5,674,390
Depreciation Expense 29,499,960 29,450,716 27,672,894
Total Operating Expenses 199,726,264 184,288,256 171,891,754

Non-Operating Expenses

Loss on Disposal of Capital Assets 74,904 374,350 692,088
Regional Transit Subsidy 3,585,334 953,233 1,038,096
Non-Operating Project Expense 289,012 667,688 4,409,245
Total Non-Operating Expense 3,949,250 1,995,271 6,139,429
Change before Capital Grants (42,224,533) (28,682,494) (18,506,727)

Capital Grant Revenues

Federal 25,015,028 3,319,148 36,246,455
Local 192,224 127,839 3,572,161
Total Capital Grant Revenues 25,207,252 3,446,987 39,818,616
Change in Net Position during the Year $ (17,017,281) $ (25,235,507) $ 21,311,889

Note: December 31, 2017 balances have not been restated to reflect the impact of GASB Statement No. 75
because the information is not available to calculate the change in the Authority's net position for those years.

Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Central Ohio Transit Authority’s financial
status and performance. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for
additional information should be addressed to:

Office of Chief Financial Officer
Central Ohio Transit Authority
William J. Lhota Building
33 N. High Street
Columbus, OH 43215
www.cota.com
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Revenues by Source

2019 Total Revenues
$186,658,233

Interest Income _, Federal Capital Grants

2.1% 13.4% Local
0.1%
Other
1.1%
Passenger Fares
10.2%
State Assistance
0.4%
= Sales Tax Revenue = State Assistance Passenger Fares Other
= Interest Income = Federal Capital Grants = Local

2018 Total Revenues
$161,048,020

Interest Income

2.1% Federal Capital Grants
2.1%
Local
Other 0.1%
Passenger Fares 0.8%
12.1%
State Assistance
1.2%
= Sales Tax Revenue = State Assistance Passenger Fares Other
= Interest Income = Federal Capital Grants = Local

Sales Tax Revenue
72.7%

Sales Tax Revenue
81.6%
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

Operating Expense by Object Class
(Excluding Depreciation)

2019 Total Expenses
$170,226,304

Labor, 38.1% i
Services, 8.5% Other, 3.9%

Purchased
Transportation, 5.2% Fringe Benefits, 33.4%

Supplies & Materials
and Fuel, 10.9%

= Services =Other =Fringe Benefits = Supplies & Materials and Fuel = Purchased Transportation = Labor

2018 Total Expenses
$154,837,540

Services, 7.0%
Other, 4.2%

Labor, 38.6%

Purchased Fringe Benefits, 34.2%
Transportation, 5.1%

Supplies & Materials
and Fuel, 10.9%

= Services = Other =Fringe Benefits = Supplies & Materials and Fuel = Purchased Transportation = Labor
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

Revenues

For purposes of this presentation, the Authority groups its operating revenues into the following categories:

Passenger Fares are comprised of farebox revenues and special services revenues. When compared to
2018, the 2019 farebox revenue is down 2.0% driven by a decrease in sales of monthly passes. Fare revenue
in 2018 was down 1.3% when compared to 2017 driven by decrease in ridership.

Sales Tax Revenues are received from a permanent ¥4% sales tax levy approved by voters in November
1999 and a temporary Y% sales tax levy approved by voters in November 2016 applicable to the Authority’s
service area for a ten-year period. In 2019, 2018, and 2017, the Authority saw a 3.3%, 1.7% and -2.0%
change in sales tax revenue, respectively.

Federal Assistance is received from the Federal Transit Administration (FTA). In 2019, 2018, and 2017,
COTA received operating assistance through 85310 to offset the cost of mobility services.

Federal Capital Grants are received from the Federal Transit Administration (FTA). Eligible expenditures fall
into two general categories: capital expenditures and other expenditures which are limited to specific
programs. The Authority’s funding, as authorized in the Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st Century,
(MAP-21), comes primarily from 85307 which is the Urbanized Area Formula Program. The Authority utilizes
these funds primarily for capital programs, transit improvements and enhancements. In 2019, 2018, and
2017, the Authority’s 85307 funding allocation increased 4.0%, 4.0%, 3.7%, respectively.

State Assistance is the combination of two (2) revenue sources. 1.) The reimbursement of Ohio State fuel
taxes. COTA is required to remit state taxes on diesel fuel but is refunded $0.27 of the $0.28 per gallon paid.
2.) In 2017, State Assistance also included transitional aid for loss of sales tax revenue from Medicaid health
insuring corporations (MHIC).

Investment Income is earned on invested funds. In 2019, 2018, and 2017, the Authority recognized 20.1%
107.8%, and 75.7% change, respectively in investment income. These changes are directly impacted by
increasing interest rates and cash balances.

Non-Transportation and Other Revenue consists of auxiliary transportation and non-transportation
revenue. Non-transportation revenue includes miscellaneous income items such as rental income. In 2019,
2018, and 2017 respectively, the Authority recognized a 27.5% 24.7% and 0.9% change in Non-
Transportation and Other Revenue. In 2019, the increase was due to the Authority receiving one-time
reimbursement payments for information technology improvements to the vehicle fleet from the Smart
Columbus program.

Local Grant Funding in 2017 was a one-time capital grant for a public-public partnership between the City of

Columbus and COTA related to the CNG Satellite station. This funding made up 1.8% of COTA'’s 2017 total
revenue.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

Expenses

Labor includes hourly wages paid to union represented employees (bus operators, mechanics and facility
maintenance personnel), and salaries and wages paid to administrative staff (clerical, supervisory and
management personnel). In 2019 and 2018, the Authority recognized an 8.3% and 3.9% increase,
respectively, in labor expense. In both years, the increase in labor was the result of scheduled increases
related to the Authority’s collective bargaining units and those provided to non-union staff. Additionally, in an
effort to support expanded service to the community, in 2019, COTA made a number of staff changes
contributing to the increase it labor costs.

Fringe Benefits consist primarily of vacation, sick and holiday pay, pension and OPEB expenses and
employee medical benefits. Required employer contributions to OPERS were made at the rate of 14% of total
gross taxable wages. The 2019, 2018, and 2017 fringe benefits increased by 7.2%, 10.6% and 33.9%,
respectively. The increases are not proportionate to the increase in labor expense due to pension and OPEB
expense adjustments required by GASB Statements No. 68 and 75.

Materials and Supplies include the Authority’s diesel fuel expense and parts used to maintain buses and
facilities. In 2019, 2018, and 2017, the Authority recognized a 6.2%, 39.5% and -23.5% change, respectively,
in fuel expenses incurred. The increase in 2019 was due to increases in the commodity pricing, offset by the
lower cost of natural gas. In 2018, the commodity pricing and the cost of natural gas both saw increases. The
decrease in 2017 was due to the lower cost of natural gas, offset by favorable commodity pricing. In 2019,
2018, and 2017, materials and supplies (excluding fuel) increased 12.4%, 11.4%, and 14.9%, respectively.
The majority of the material and supply costs for the Authority are related to parts for the repair and
maintenance of revenue buses and materials used to maintain Authority owned facilities. Increased material
and supply costs, exclusive of fuel, are directly related to service expansions year over year.

Purchased Transportation expenses are amounts paid to private local contractors for the Authority’s door-
to-door Project Mainstream service. Project Mainstream provides service-on-demand in minibuses equipped
with wheelchair lifts for persons with disabilities. Contracted costs are based on a fixed fee in addition to a
variable rate based on revenue hours provided. In 2019, 2018, and 2017, the Authority recognized a 11.6%,
2.6% and -2.0% change respectively. 2019 had a significant expense increase as a result of expanding
services to include the provision of direct, door-to-door services to those Mainstream customers. 2018 had a
slight expense increase that was in line with increases in service hours provided. In 2017, there was a
decrease to Purchased Transportation expense due to contract reductions.

Services are provided by outside contractors to assist the Authority in completing professional, technical,
consulting and maintenance related projects. In 2019, 2018, and 2017 the Authority recognized 33.0%, -3.1%,
and 9.4% change, respectively, in the cost of services. These changes are mainly driven by information
technology consultants, software maintenance, outside consulting for planning projects and outsourced facility
maintenance expenses.

Other Expenses consist primarily of utilities, taxes, advertising, leases and rentals, claims and insurance and
other miscellaneous expenses. In 2019, 2018, and 2017, other expenses increased 5.2%, 13.6% and 13.0%,
respectively, mostly driven by an increase in training opportunities for staff, losses incurred on the disposition
of fixed assets, and bad debt expense. In both 2018 and 2017 the increase to other expenses was also driven
by a significant increase in utility expense due to winter weather.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

Depreciation Expense In 2019, 2018, and 2017, the Authority recognized 0.2%, 6.4% and 9.1% increases
respectively, over prior year depreciation expense. While the 2019 depreciation expense was consistent with
prior year, the 2018 increase was due to an overall increase in capital assets associated with the first full year
of depreciation associated with BRT construction assets and thirteen fixed route buses.

Non-Operating Expense As a result of the 2010 US census, the City of Delaware has been classified as a
part of the Columbus Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA). This change was effective with Federal Fiscal Year
2013 which affected the funding status of the Delaware Area Transit Authority (DATA) moving them from a
rural transit funded through Ohio Department of Transportation (ODOT) to an urban transit funded directly
from the Federal Transit Administration via Section 5307 formula funds. The change has had a detrimental
impact on DATA’s ability to utilize their federal funds from the urbanized area. DATA is unable to meet the
local funding requirements to utilize their portion of the federal funding. With the assistance of MORPC, COTA
and DATA entered into an agreement that specified the method of allocation that will be used going forward to
split the 5307 funds awarded to the Columbus MSA on an annual basis. The allocation that DATA receives
from this split is significantly less than the funding they received under the rural program administered by
ODOT. In recognition of the financial dilemma that DATA is in, ODOT and COTA have entered into an
agreement whereby DATA will receive local funding from COTA for use in public transportation in Delaware
County and the FTA, upon advisement by ODOT, will transfer an equal amount of federal funds to COTA. In
2019, 2018, and 2017, $3,585,334, $953,233 and $1,038,096 respectively, was transferred to Delaware Area
Transit Authority.

The Authority has several on-going capital projects that require the improvement of assets that are not owned
by the Authority. Such expenses cannot be classified as capital expenses of the project nor can they be
classified as operating expenses of the Authority. In 2019, 2018, and 2017 these non-operating projects
expenses were $289,012 and $667,688 and $4,409,245, respectively.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Statements of Net Position
December 31, 2019 and 2018

2019 2018
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash eqUIVAIENES.........cuii i e e e e e e e eeeeas $ 149,601,389 177,345,430
Receivables:

STz 113 7= PP 36,202,796 35,620,120

Federal capital grants receivable...............oooiiiiiiii e 13,167,366 1,399,879

Federal operating a@SSIStANCE. ... .v ittt it e e e e et e e e 831,410 395,402

L 1 Y PP 1,572,895 2,050,624

Inventory of materials and SUPPIIES......o.iit it 4,588,386 3,722,415
(3= PP 1,222,268 1,090,357
Board designated:

Cash and cash equivalents - capital grants............c.cooiiiiiiiii i 13,221,556 6,570,941
TOTAL CURRENT ASSET S, .. ittt ittt et ettt et et ettt et et et et et et et et e e aeenaeaee s 220,408,066 228,195,168
NON-CURRENT ASSETS:

Board designated:
INVESTMENLS - SEIf INSUIANCE... ... e e e e e e e e e e e e 15,978,630 15,612,684
Capital assets:

Nondepreciable - [and........ ... 11,456,847 11,456,847

Nondepreciable - conStruCtion iN ProgreSS.......cuvuuieviriie it ie e eiiiee e 34,800,883 11,470,185

Net depreciable capital @SSEtS. .. ... ccoiuiuniiie it 189,429,503 200,089,761

(O T o1 vz U= TS E T g =] PRSPPI 235,687,233 223,016,793
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSE T S .. ittt ittt et et et et e e e e e e aen s 251,665,863 238,629,477
T O T AL AS S T S ittt ittt et e et et et ettt et et et et e 472,073,929 466,824,645
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES:

PENSION/OPEB. .. ...t e e e e et et e 42,313,055 30,083,645
CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Accrued payroll and fringe BENEefitS.........cooiiii i 9,148,868 8,511,177

ACCOUNTS PAYADIE.....coeii ittt ettt e e e e anee e 5,758,894 3,577,174

ACCTUE PAYTOI TXES. .. iiiiee ettt ettt ettt e et e e e s bt e e s st e e e staeaeasnaeeeennnee 1,742,179 1,046,710

Estimated workers' compensation Claims....... ..ot e 370,421 484,670

Estimated Claims Payable .........ooiiiio e 411,000 106,500

Other current liabilities 1,422,726 3,285,182
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 18,854,088 17,011,413
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Accrued friNgE DENEFILS......uiiii e e e e e s 1,316,951 1,338,889

Estimated workers' compensation Claims....... ..ot e e 956,675 918,095

Estimated claims payable .........ooiiiei e 115,518 146,853

Net Pension laDIlity ............oo e 110,351,252 71,271,333

NEt OPEB lADIlILY ....veevviieiiiteeiie bbb 53,405,611 50,100,594
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES. ...cc ettt ettt e e e e e e nannnnnaaens 166,146,007 123,775,764
TOTAL LIABILITIES. ...ttt ettt sb et ettt e nbeenne e an 185,000,095 140,787,177
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES:

PENSION/OPEB. .. ... i e e e et et ettt e 10,720,765 20,437,708
NET POSITION:

INVEStMENt iN Capital @SSEIS. .. vt 235,687,233 223,016,793

L8 LT =1y 1 o1 (=T R 82,978,891 112,666,612
TOTAL NET POSITION ... ettt it e e et e e et e et e et e e v e e e e aa e n e eannas $ 318,666,124 335,683,405

See notes to financial statements.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

2019 2018
OPERATING REVENUES:
Passenger fares for tranSit SEIVICE.........uiii i $ 18,208,917 % 18,576,996
SPECIAl trANSIE FAIES. ....oieiii ettt ettt eaneeesneeas 822,880 845,027
B 1o | TSRO U PP PRTPURRPPRPPRION 19,031,797 19,422,023
OPERATING EXPENSES OTHER THAN DEPRECIATION:
[IE= o Lo | T PP TP PP UPTRTRRRPRN 64,771,226 59,789,565
L 10 o Lo o= 0 1= 1 TSR R 56,782,782 52,982,981
Materials and SUPPIIES. .. ..ciiiiiiiieiiiie ettt e e et e e s b e e enne 13,003,490 11,567,995
T P 5,604,153 5,278,654
Purchased tranSPOrtatioN. ...........uiiiiiiiie et e s 8,778,525 7,869,240
S BIVICES. ..ottt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e eaaaaaaaaaaaaaaes 14,505,867 10,903,982
UEITITIES . ettt 2,713,131 2,887,923
L= DS L 872,138 768,041
Leases and FENTAIS ........c.eiiiiiiei e 173,335 155,569
Claims and insurance, net of settlements 469,096 241,515
YN0 1Y =T 11T o PP UPRUOPPRN 1,033,005 1,224,203
MISCEIIANEOUS. ... .. e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e eeeeeeeeeeas 1,519,556 1,167,872
B 1o | TSSO U P PUROURRPPRPPRPON 170,226,304 154,837,540
[0 L o T @ NN I8 0 29,499,960 29,450,716
TOtal OPEratiNg EXPENSES. ..ueiiiiiiiie ittt e ittt e et e e e e e st e e e st e e e s nibee e s sbaeaeaastreeeens 199,726,264 184,288,256
OPERATING LOS S . .. ittt ittt et et e e et e e e et e et e e et et ee aaeaeaas (180,694,467) (164,866,233)
NON-OPERATING REVENUES(EXPENSES):
SAIES LAX TEVEINUES. ... et e e e e e e e e e e eeeeas 135,701,616 131,382,944
Federal Operating grantS. .. ... .ottt e e et et e e e e 436,008 395,402
State operating grants, reimbursements and
SpECial fare @SSISTANCE ......uiiiiiiiiie ittt 748,250 1,867,863
INVESTMENT INCOME. ... ..ottt e e e e e e e e e e e e s eeaeeseeaeeaeaaaas 3,976,278 3,311,564
Regional transit SUDSIAY..........i it e e e e e e (3,585,334) (953,233)
NON-0PErating ProjECt EXPENSE ... .. uun e eee ettt et aee et e e et e et e e aeeeaaeans (289,012) (667,688)
Non-transportation and Other FEVENUE..........ccuuviiiiiiiiee e 1,557,032 1,221,237
Loss on disposal of capital @SSETS........covuiieiiti et (74,904) (374,350)
TOTAL ettt 138,469,934 136,183,739
CHANGE BEFORE CAPITAL GRANTS .. ..ot iii et oo, (42,224,533) (28,682,494)
CAPITAL GRANT REVENUES:
LYo L= = | 25,015,028 3,319,148
LOCAI e 192,224 127,839
B 1o - | RO OURUURPPRURRN 25,207,252 3,446,987
CHANGE IN NET POSITION (17,017,281) (25,235,507)
NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR......oit it e e e e e e v e 335,683,405 360,918,912
NET POSITION, END OF YEAR. ...ttt ittt et e e e $ 318,666,124 $ 335,683,405

See notes to financial statements.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

2019 2018
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Cash received from CUSTOMENS. .......ciiiiieieiieese ettt eee s $ 19,031,797 % 19,422,023
Cash payments to suppliers for goods and ServiCes...........cccoooveiiieeiiieiiieesiie e (50,630,811) (42,098,480)
Cash payments to employees fOr SEIVICES.......coiiuiiiiiiiiiiii e (64,133,535) (59,632,946)
Cash payments for employee benefits.........cccooiiiiiiiiiiie e (35,670,668) (36,061,335)
Cash payments for casualty and liability.............cccceiiiiieeiiiiie e (271,600) (482,391)
(@1 g 1T (= Tod= o] £ TPRPRPTTPN 1,902,850 2,084,000
Net cash used in operating aCtVITIES.........cuveiiiiiiiee i (129,771,967) (116,769,129)
CASH FLOWS FROM NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
SalES tAXES FECEIVEM. .....ei ittt 135,118,940 129,263,778
Local assisStance Provided. .. ...... ...ttt e e (3,585,334) (953,233)
State operating and other assistance received..............cccco...... 748,250 6,619,991
Net cash provided by non-capital financing activities 132,281,856 134,930,536
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Federal capital grants reCEIVEU. .........ooi i 13,247,541 10,036,107
Local capital grants reCEIVEM. .........oiuiiiiiieiii et 192,224 127,839
Acquisition and construction of capital @SSetS..........cceiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e (40,619,595) (14,484,563)
Acquisition and construction of non-capital project eXpenses...........cccceevveeeieeeiieeene (289,012) (667,688)
Proceeds from sale of capital @SSetS........ouiiviriii i 255,195 198,453
Net cash used in capital and related financing activities.............c.ccocoeeiieiiieenenne (27,213,647) (4,789,852)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of INVESIMENES....... ... e e e e (365,946) (301,374)
Interest received from INVESIMENTS. ........u i e e e eeeeees 3,976,278 3,311,564
Net cash provided by investing actiVities............coccveiiiiiieiiie e 3,610,332 3,010,190
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (21,093,426) 16,381,745
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR.......cccoiiiiiiiieee e, 183,916,371 167,534,626
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR.......oiitiiiieeiteice et $ 162,822,945 $ 183,916,371
RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS TO NET CASH
USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
OPEIAtING LOSS. .. .o it ittt et e e e e $ (180,694,467) $ (164,866,233)
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash used in operating activities:
[0 1= £ ox =1 o] o Pt 29,499,960 29,450,716
(010 1T B (o= ) SRS 1,557,032 1,221,237
Change in assets and liabilities:
Decrease in other receivables. ... 477,729 1,077,268
Increase in materials and supplies iINVENtOry.........ooviiiii i e (865,971) (261,780)
INCrease in Other @SSETS. ... ...c.iu it (131,911) (214,506)
(Increase) Decrease in deferred outflows...........cooviviiiiii i (12,229,410) 9,234,918
Increase in accounts payable, accrued compensation, self-insurance
liabilities and other..........cccoocviiiii (52,922) 213,298
Increase (Decrease) in net pension liability.............cooiii i, 39,079,919 (21,394,402)
Increase in net OPEB liability...........c.oooiiiii i, 3,305,017 8,884,148
(Decrease) Increase in deferred inflows..........coooviiiiiiii i (9,716,943) 19,886,207
Net cash used in operating actiVities.............cocviiiiiiiiir e $ (129,771,967) $ (116,769,129)
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH ACTIVITY
Capital assets acquired through accounts payable $ 2,978,418 $ 1,097,514

See notes to financial statements.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

(1)

(@)

Organization and Reporting Entity

Organization

The Central Ohio Transit Authority (COTA or the Authority) is an independent, special purpose subdivision
of the State of Ohio. The Authority was created on February 17, 1971, pursuant to Sections 306.30 through
306.53 of the Ohio Revised Code for the purpose of providing public transportation in Central Ohio,
primarily Franklin County and surrounding areas. The Authority commenced operations on January 1,
1974. As a political subdivision, the Authority is distinct from, and is not an agency of, the State of Ohio or
any other local government unit.

Under Ohio law, the Authority is authorized to levy a sales and use tax for transit purposes, including both
capital improvement and operating expenses, in 0.25% increments up to a maximum rate of 1.5% if
approved by a majority of the electors residing within the territorial boundaries of the Authority. Such a
sales and use tax is in addition to the sales and use taxes levied by the State of Ohio and Franklin County.
On November 5, 1999, the voters of Franklin County approved a permanent 0.25% sales and use tax. On
November 8, 2016, the voters of Franklin County and surrounding counties within the COTA district
renewed a temporary 10 year additional 0.25% sales and use tax.

The Authority also has the power, under Section 306.40 of the Ohio Revised Code, to levy and collect
both voted (after approval at an election) and unvoted ad valorem taxes on all the taxable property within
the territorial boundaries of the Authority, in order to pay debt service on its bonds and notes issued in
anticipation thereof. Ad valorem taxes were not levied during fiscal year 2019.

The Authority is governed by a 13-member Board of Trustees; seven (7) members are appointed by the
Mayor of Columbus; two (2) members are appointed by the Franklin County Commissioners; and four (4)
members are appointed on a rotating basis by the cities of Bexley, Dublin, Gahanna, Grandview Heights,
Grove City, Hilliard, Reynoldsburg, Upper Arlington, Westerville, Whitehall, and Worthington.

The Authority is not subject to federal or state income taxes.

Reporting Entity

The accompanying financial statements comply with the provisions of accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America in that these financial statements include all of the organization’s
activities, functions and component units for which the Authority is financially accountable. Financial
accountability is defined as the appointment of a voting majority of the component unit’s board and either
(1) the reporting entity’s ability to impose its will over the component unit, or (2) the possibility that the
component unit will provide a financial benefit to or impose a financial burden on the reporting entity. COTA
does not have financial accountability over any entities.

The City of Columbus (the City) is a related organization to COTA as the Mayor of the City, with the
approval of City Council, appoints a voting majority of COTA’s Board. However, the financial statements
of COTA are not included within the City’s “Reporting Entity” as the City cannot impose its will and there
is no financial benefit or financial burden relationship between the City and COTA.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Accounting

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting, whereby
revenues and expenses are recognized in the period earned or incurred. All transactions are accounted
for in a single enterprise fund.

The financial statements of the Authority have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP) applied to local governmental units. The Governmental Accounting
Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting
and financial principles.
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(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Authority considers all highly liquid investments with a
maturity of three months or less when purchased and deposits in the State Treasurer's Asset Reserve
investment pool (STAR Ohio) to be cash equivalents.

Grant and Assistance

The federal government, through the Federal Transit Administration (FTA), and the Ohio Department of
Transportation (ODOT), provides financial assistance and makes grants directly to the Authority for
operations and the acquisition of property and equipment.

Investments

Investments are carried at fair value based on quoted market prices. Any unrealized gains or losses are
recognized as adjustments to investment income. The Authority’s policy is to hold investment securities to
their scheduled maturities.

Inventory of Materials and Supplies

Inventory items are stated at cost using the weighted average method. Inventory generally consists of
maintenance parts and supplies for transportation equipment. Fuel and inventory items are expensed
when consumed.

Board Designated Assets
These assets are designated for the payment of public liability claims under the Authority’s self-insurance
program and for future capital expenditures.

Designated for Capital Grant Expenditures
These assets are board-designated under the Authority’s capital grants. The Authority includes amounts
relating to its local share requirements for active capital grants.
Net Position
Equity is displayed in two components as follows:
Investment in capital assets — This consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, less the

outstanding balances of any bonds, notes, or other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition,
construction, or improvements of those assets; the Authority has no such debt.

Unrestricted — This consists of net position that does not meet the definition of “investment in capital
assets”.

Classifications of Revenues

The Authority has classified its revenue as operating, non-operating or capital grant. Operating revenue
includes activities that have the characteristics of exchange transactions including passenger fares and
advertising. Non-operating revenue includes activities that have the characteristics of non-exchange
transactions, such as sales tax proceeds and most federal, state, or other reimbursement or donation for
the acquisition of property and equipment.
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(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Recognition of Revenue and Receivables

The federal government, through the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) and the Ohio Department of
Transportation (ODOT), provides financial assistance and makes grants directly to the Authority for
operations and acquisition of property and equipment. Operating grants and special fare assistance
awards made on the basis of entitlement periods are recorded as grant receivables and revenues over the
entitlement periods. Capital grants for the acquisition of property and equipment (reimbursement type
grants) are recorded as grant receivables and credited to non-operating revenues in the period capital
expenses are incurred. Capital grants received in advance of project costs being incurred are deferred.

When assets acquired with capital grant funds are disposed of before their useful life, the Authority is
required to notify the granting federal agency if the fair market value of the asset exceeds $5,000 at the
time of disposal. A proportional amount of the proceeds or fair market value, if any, of such property and
equipment, may be used to acquire like-kind replacement assets; and if not replaced, remitted to the
granting federal agency.

Property and Depreciation

Property and equipment are stated at historical cost and include expenses that substantially increase the
useful lives of existing assets. Routine maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. An asset is
capitalized if its value exceeds $5,000 and it has an economic life of greater than one year. The
capitalization cost of a physical asset is defined to be the full cost of placing the asset into productive
service.

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the respective
assets, as follows:

Description Years
Land and leasehold improvements 5-20
Buildings and improvements 20-40
Revenue vehicles 4-12
Transit shelters 5-8
Other equipment 2-10

Assets acquired with capital grants are included in property and equipment and depreciation on those
assets is included in the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position. Donated capital
assets are recorded at the acquisition value as of the date donated.

Estimated Claims Payable

The Authority has a self-insurance program for public liability, personal injury, property damage and
workers’ compensation (see Note 9). Claims are accrued in the year the expenses are incurred, based
upon estimates of the claim liabilities made by management and the legal counsel of the Authority. Also
provided for are estimates of claims incurred during the year but not yet reported. These estimates are
based on past experience and current outstanding claims.
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(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Compensated Absences

The Authority accrues vacation and sick pay benefits as earned by its employees. In the event of
termination, an employee is reimbursed for accumulated vacation and sick leave at various rates. Non-
current accrued fringe benefits are estimated based on the average vacation and sick leave expense from
the previous five years.

Current Non-current
Compensated Absences Liability December 31, 2017 $ 3,724,518 $ 1,482,376
Vacation & Sick Liability Earned 5,755,319 -
Vacation & Sick Liability Paid (5,448,862) (143,487)
Compensated Absences Liability December 31, 2018 $ 4,030,975 $ 1,338,889
Vacation & Sick Liability Earned 6,480,429 -
Vacation & Sick Liability Paid (6,005,096) (21,938)

Compensated Absences Liability December 31, 2019 $ 4,506,308 $ 1,316,951

Payment of vacation and sick leave is dependent on many factors; therefore, timing of future payments is
not readily determinable. However, management believes that sufficient resources will be made available
for the payment of vacation and sick leave when such payments become due.

Passenger Fares
Passenger fares are recorded as revenue at the time services are performed.

Budgetary Accounting and Control

The Authority’s annual budget is prepared on the accrual basis of accounting as permitted by law. The
Authority maintains budgetary control by not allowing total expenditures to exceed total appropriations
without approval of the Board of Trustees, with the exception of net pension and OPEB expense, which
are not included in the Authority’s budget.

Use of Estimates

The accounting and reporting policies of COTA conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (GAAP). The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
deferred outflows of resources and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Non-exchange Transactions

Non-exchange transactions, in which the Authority receives value without directly giving equal value in
return, include sales and use tax revenue and grants. On an accrual basis, revenue from sales and use
taxes is recognized in the period when the underlying exchange transaction occurs. Therefore, taxes on
items sold in 2019 will be recognized as revenue in 2019. Revenue from grants is recognized in the fiscal
year in which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied. Eligibility requirements include timing
requirements, which specify the year when the resources are required to be used or the fiscal year when
use is first permitted, and expenditure requirements, in which the resources are provided to the Authority
on a reimbursement basis.
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(@)

®3)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Deferred inflows of resources

In addition to liabilities, the statements of financial position report a separate section for deferred inflows
of resources. Deferred inflows of resources represent an acquisition of net position that applies to a future
period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources until that time. For the Authority, deferred
inflows of resources from pension and OPEB plans are reported on the Statement of net position (see
Notes 10 and 11).

Deferred outflows of resources

In addition to assets, the statement of net position reports a separate section for deferred outflows of
resources. This separate financial statement element represents a consumption of net position that applies
to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources until then. For the Authority,
deferred outflows of resources from pension and OPEB plans are reported on the Statement of net position
(see Notes 10 and 11).

Pensions/Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB)

For purposes of measuring the net pension/OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions/OPEB, and pension/OPEB expense, information about the
fiduciary net position of the pension/OPEB plans and additions to/deductions from their fiduciary net
position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the pension/OPEB plan. For
this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due
and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. The pension/OPEB plans report investments at fair
value.

Change in Accounting Principles

For 2019, the Authority implemented GASB Statement No. 83, Certain Asset Retirement Obligations;
GASB Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities; GASB Statement No. 88, Certain Disclosures Related to
Debt, Including Direct Borrowings and Direct Placements; and GASB Statement No. 90, Majority Equity
Interests an amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 61. Implementation of these statements had
no effect on the Authority’s financial statements.

GASB Statement No. 83 establishes uniform criteria for governments to recognize and measure certain
asset retirement obligations (AROSs), including obligations that may not have been previously reported,
including requiring certain disclosures regarding AROs.

GASB Statement No. 84 establishes criteria for identifying fiduciary activities of all state and local
governments. The focus of the criteria generally is on (1) whether a government is controlling the assets
of the fiduciary activity and (2) the beneficiaries with whom a fiduciary relationship exists. Separate criteria
are included to identify fiduciary component units and postemployment benefit arrangements that are
fiduciary activities.

GASB Statement No. 88 improves information that is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements
related to debt, including direct borrowings and direct placements. It also clarifies which liabilities
governments should include when disclosing information related to debt. Required disclosure include,
unused line(s) of credit, assets pledged as collateral for the debt, terms specified in debt agreement related
to defaults, significant termination events and significant subjective acceleration clauses.

GASB Statement No. 90 with requires a majority equity interest that meets a definition of an investment
should be measured using the equity method, unless it is held by a government that is engaged only in
fiduciary activities, a fiduciary fund, or an endowment or permanent fund. Those governments or funds
should measure the majority equity interest at fair value.

31



CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

(4) Cash and Investments

The investment and deposit of Authority monies are governed by the provisions of the Ohio Revised Code.
In accordance with these statutes, only financial institutions located in Ohio are eligible to hold public
deposits. The statutes also permit the Authority to invest its monies in certificates of deposit, savings
accounts, money market accounts, the State Treasurer's Asset Reserve investment pool (STAR Ohio),
and obligations of the United States government or certain agencies thereof. The Authority may also enter
into repurchase agreements with any eligible depository for a period not exceeding thirty days.

STAR Ohio is an investment pool managed by the State Treasurer’s Office, which allows governments
within the State to pool their funds for investment purposes. STAR Ohio is not registered with the SEC as
an investment company but has adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement
No. 79, “Certain External Investment Pools and Pool Participants”. The Authority measures its investment
in STAR Ohio at the net asset value (NAV) per share provided by STAR Ohio. The NAV per share is
calculated on an amortized cost basis that provides a NAV per share that approximates fair value. For
2019, there were no limitations or restrictions on any participant withdrawals due to redemption notice
periods, liquidity fees, or redemption gates. However, notice must be given 24 hours in advance of all
deposits and withdrawals exceeding $25 million. STAR Ohio reserves the right to limit the transaction to
$100 million, requiring the excess amount to be transacted the following business days(s), but on to the
$100 million limit. All accounts of the participant will be combined for these purposes.

Deposits with Financial Institutions

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of bank failure, the Authority will not be able to recover
deposits or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. Although all statutory
requirements for the deposit of money had been followed, noncompliance with Federal requirements could
potentially subject the Authority to a successful claim by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. The
Authority has no deposit policy for custodial risk beyond the requirements of State statute. Ohio law
requires that deposits either be insured or be protected by:

Eligible securities pledged to the Authority and deposited with a qualified trustee by the financial
institution as security for repayment whose market value at all times shall be at least 105 percent
of the deposits being secured; or

Participation in the Ohio Pooled Collateral System (OPCS), a collateral pool of eligible securities
deposited with a qualified trustee and pledged to the Treasurer of State to secure the repayment
of all public monies deposited in the financial institution. OPCS requires the total market value of
the securities pledged to be 102 percent of the deposits being secured or a rate set by the
Treasurer of State.

At December 31, 2019, the carrying amount of the Authority’s deposits with financial institutions was
$6,595,035 and the bank balance was $8,782,561. The difference results from outstanding checks and
deposits in transit. At December 31, 2019, $250,000 was covered by Federal Deposit Insurance.
$8,532,561 was collateralized with securities deposited with a qualified trustee and pledged to the
Treasurer of State. In addition, the Authority had $6,189 of cash on hand.

At December 31, 2018, the carrying amount of the Authority’s deposits with financial institutions was
$22,737,677 and the bank balance was $25,339,173. The difference results from outstanding checks and
deposits in transit. At December 31, 2018, $250,000 was covered by Federal Deposit Insurance.
$25,089,173 was collateralized with securities deposited with a qualified trustee and pledged to the
Treasurer of State. In addition, the Authority had $7,783 of cash on hand.
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(4)

()

Cash and Investments (continued)

Other Deposits

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Authority held equity of $156,227,910 and $161,178,694
respectively, in the STAR Ohio investment pool. STARONhio is rated AAAm by Standard and Poor’s. This
investment has not been categorized based on a custodial risk because it is not a security. The relationship
between the Authority and the investment asset is a direct contractual relationship and the investments
evidence ownership or creditorship.

Investments

The Authority’s investments consist solely of negotiable certificates of deposits (CDs). These CDs are held
in the Authority’s name by the Trustees and are fully covered by FDIC. At December 31, 2019 and 2018,
the total fair value of the Authority’s investment in negotiable CDs were $15,978,630 and $15,612,684,
respectively, all of which have maturity dates of less than one year. Fair value hierarchy is based on
valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets. Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs such as quoted prices
for similar assets in active markets. Level 3 inputs are significantly unobservable inputs. At December 31,
2019 and 2018, the Authority categorizes fair value measurements of its negotiable CDs totaling
$15,978,630 and $15,612,684, respectively, as Level 2 inputs as fair value measures were obtained from
trustees who use various pricing services.

Commitments

The Authority has several active projects as of December 31, 2019. At year-end, the Authority’s
commitments with contractors are as follows:

Remaining

Project Spent-to-Date  Commitment
Fields Avenue Renovation $ 15,423,957 $ 36,217,204
Downtown Building Improvements 3,016,122 621,295
Trapeze Upgrade 3,534,954 1,119,485
McKinley Avenue Renovation Phase 3C 92,318 3,983,476
Reynoldsburg Park and Ride 286,655 1
COTA Operated On-Demand Microtransit (FLM) 163,730 48,142

$ 22,517,737  $ 41,989,602
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(6) Capital Assets

Capital asset activities for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

January 1, Reclassifications/ December 31,
2019 Additions Disposals Transfers 2019

Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated

Land $ 11,456,847 $ - $ - $ - $ 11,456,847

CIP 11,470,185 25,806,604 - (2,475,906) 34,800,883
Total 22,927,032 25,806,604 - (2,475,906) 46,257,730
Capital Assets Being Depreciated

Land and leasehold improvements 18,288,482 - - - 18,288,482

Building and improvements 159,913,334 89,905 - 2,002,818 162,006,057

Revenue ehicles 152,220,681 16,027,067 (6,438,084) - 161,809,664

Transit shelter 10,854,885 - - - 10,854,885

Other equipment 56,408,822 576,923 (516,818) 473,088 56,942,015
Total 397,686,204 16,693,895 (6,954,902) 2,475,906 409,901,103
Less Accumulated Depreciation

Land and leasehold improvements (4,649,253) (1,384,357) - - (6,033,610)

Building and improvements (74,539,620) (8,465,555) - - (83,005,175)

Revenue vehicles (80,695,672) (13,230,738) 6,173,549 - (87,752,861)

Transit shelter (3,021,163) (1,247,054) - - (4,268,217)

Other equipment (34,690,735) (5,172,256) 451,254 - (39,411,737)
Total (197,596,443) (29,499,960) 6,624,803 - (220,471,600)
Total Capital Assets Being

Depreciated, Net 200,089,761 (12,806,065) (330,099) 2,475,906 189,429,503
Total Capital Assets Net $ 223,016,793 $ 13,000,539 $ (330,099) $ - $ 235,687,233

January 1, Reclassifications/ December 31,
2018 Additions Disposals Transfers 2018

Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated

Land $ 11,456,847 $ - $ - $ - $ 11,456,847

CIP 38,001,929 9,538,248 - (36,069,992) 11,470,185
Total 49,458,776 9,538,248 - (36,069,992) 22,927,032
Capital Assets Being Depreciated

Land and leasehold improvements 6,463,959 - - 11,824,523 18,288,482

Building and improvements 150,357,633 162,397 (15,518) 9,408,822 159,913,334

Revenue vehicles 161,796,682 1,861,098 (11,566,952) 129,853 152,220,681

Transit shelter 2,514,623 - - 8,340,262 10,854,885

Other equipment 49,747,621 510,094 (215,425) 6,366,532 56,408,822
Total 370,880,518 2,533,589 (11,797,895) 36,069,992 397,686,204
Less Accumulated Depreciation

Land and leasehold improvements (3,369,338) (1,279,915) - - (4,649,253)

Building and improvements (66,068,601) (8,486,537) 15,518 - (74,539,620)

Revenue vehicles (79,070,632) (12,619,189) 10,994,149 - (80,695,672)

Transit shelter (1,746,588) (1,274,575) - - (3,021,163)

Other equipment (29,115,660) (5,790,500) 215,425 - (34,690,735)
Total (179,370,819) (29,450,716) 11,225,092 - (197,596,443)
Total Capital Assets Being

Depreciated, Net 191,509,699 (26,917,127) (572,803) 36,069,992 200,089,761
Total Capital Assets Net $ 240,968,475 $ (17,378,879) $ (572,803) $ - $ 223,016,793
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(7) Leases

COTA leases certain property and equipment under operating leases. Rental expense for all operating
leases was $173,334 and $155,569 in 2019 and 2018, respectively. Future minimum payments, by year,
and in the aggregate, under these leases with initial or remaining terms of one year or more, consisted of

the following at December 31, 2019:

2020

2021

2022

2023

2024

2025 and forward

Total Minimum Lease Payments

(8) Grants, Reimbursements and Special Fare Assistance

Commitments

under Operating

Leases

$

$ 42,479

6,404
6,660
6,927
7,204
7,492
7,792

Grants, reimbursements and special fare assistance included in the Statements of Revenues, Expenses
and Changes in Net Position for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 consist of the following:

Federal: 2019 2018

FTA Capital Assistance $ 25,015,028 $ 3,319,148

FTA Operating Assistance 436,008 395,402
Total $ 25,451,036 $ 3,714,550
State:

ODOT Fuel Tax Reimbursement $ 748,250 $ 598,747

Medicare Transitional Aid - 1,269,116
Total $ 748,250 $ 1,867,863
Local:

City of Columbus Reimbursement  $ 192,224  $ 127,839

(9) Risk Management

COTA is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft or destruction of assets, injuries to
employees and natural disasters. The Authority purchases commercial insurance for employee bonding,
flood, fire, property, crime, travel and general liability. There have been no reductions in coverage nor have
there been any settlements exceeding insurance coverage for the past three years.

COTA is self-insured for all public liability, personal injury and property damage claims. The estimated
liability for such claims of $526,518 at December 31, 2019, and $253,353 at December 31, 2018, are
included in estimated claims payable in the accompanying statements of net position. At December 31,
2019 and 2018 $15,978,630 and $15,612,684, respectively, was designated by the Board of Trustees to
fund the self-insurance program. Such funds are included in board designated assets in the accompanying

statements of net position.
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(9)

(10)

Risk Management (continued)

Prior to June 30, 1998, COTA was insured through the State of Ohio Bureau of Workers’ Compensation
(BWC) for injuries to its employees. On July 1, 1998, the Authority entered into an agreement with the
BWC to become self-insured for claims pertaining to work-related injuries to Authority employees occurring
on or after that date. The BWC agreed to continue to administer and pay all compensation claims arising
on or before June 30, 1998. The estimated remaining liability for all such claims occurring since July 1,
1998, is $1,327,096 at December 31, 2019 and $1,402,765 at December 31, 2018 and is included as a
liability in the accompanying statements of net position.

The general claims liability was calculated by establishing reserves on a case-by-case basis after analysis
by in-house counsel and outside attorneys. The workers’ compensation liability was determined by
analyzing claim lag information provided by COTA's third party administrators. A summary of changes in
self-insurance claims liability for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 follows:

Workers'
General Liability Compensation
Claims liability at December 31, 2017 $ 341,461 $ 1,555,533
Incurred claims, net of favorable settlements 394,283 448,369
Claims paid (482,391) (601,137)
Claims liability at December 31, 2018 $ 253,353 $ 1,402,765
Incurred claims, net of favorable settlements 672,040 608,568
Claims paid (398,875) (684,237)
Claims liability at December 31, 2019 $ 526,518 $ 1,327,096

There were no changes to the above policies during the current fiscal year. Claims experience over the
past three years indicates that there were no instances of losses exceeding reserves. The amount of
general liability and workers’ compensation reserve expected to be paid within one year is $781,421 and
$591,170, for 2019 and 2018 respectively.

Pension Plan

Net Pension Liability

The net pension liability reported on the statement of net position represents a liability to employees for
pension benefits. Pension benefits are a component of exchange transactions—between an employer and
its employees—of salaries and benefits for employee services. Pension benefits are provided to an
employee—on a deferred-payment basis—as part of the total compensation package offered by an
employer for employee services each financial period. The obligation to sacrifice resources for pension
benefits is a present obligation because it was created as a result of employment exchanges that already
have occurred.

The net pension liability represents the Authority’s proportionate share of the pension plan’s collective
actuarial present value of projected benefit payments attributable to past periods of service, net of the
pension plan’s fiduciary net position. The net pension liability calculation is dependent on critical long-term
variables, including estimated average life expectancies, earnings on investments, cost of living
adjustments and others. While these estimates use the best information available, unknowable future
events require adjusting this estimate annually.

Ohio Revised Code limits the Authority’s obligation for this liability to annually required payments. The

Authority cannot control benefit terms or the manner in which pensions are financed; however, the
Authority does receive the benefit of employees’ services in exchange for compensation including pension.
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GASB Statement No. 68 assumes the liability is solely the obligation of the employer, because (1) they
benefit from employee services; and (2) State statute requires all funding to come from these employers.
All contributions to date have come solely from these employers (which also includes costs paid in the
form of withholdings from employees). State statute requires the pension plan to amortize unfunded
liabilities within 30 years. If the amortization period exceeds 30 years, the pension plan’s Board must
propose corrective action to the State legislature. Any resulting legislative change to benefits or funding
could significantly affect the net pension liability. Resulting adjustments to net pension liability would be
effective when the changes are legally enforceable.

The proportionate share of the pension plan’s unfunded benefits is presented as a long-term net pension
liability on the accrual basis of accounting. Any liability for the contractually-required pension contributions
outstanding at the end of the year is included in accrued payroll and fringe benefits.

Plan Description — Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS)

The Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS) administers three separate pension plans. The
Traditional Pension Plan is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan. The Member-
Directed Plan is a defined contribution plan and the Combined Plan is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer
defined benefit pension plan with defined contribution features. While members (e.g., Authority
employees) may elect the Member-Directed Plan and the Combined Plan, the majority of employee
members are in OPERS’ Traditional Plan; therefore, the following disclosures focus on the Traditional
Pension Plan.

OPERS provides retirement, disability, survivor and death benefits, and annual cost of living adjustments
to members of the Traditional Plan. Authority to establish and amend benefits is provided by Chapter 145
of the Ohio Revised Code (ORC). OPERS issues a stand-alone financial report that includes financial
statements, required supplementary information and detailed information about OPERS’ fiduciary net
position that may be obtained by visiting https://www.opers.org/financial/reports.shtml, by writing to Ohio
Public Employees Retirement System, 277 East Town Street, Columbus, OH 43215-4642, or by calling
800-222-7377.

Senate Bill (SB) 343 was enacted into law with an effective date of January 7, 2013. In the legislation,
members were categorized into three groups with varying provisions of the law applicable to each group.
The following table provides age and service requirements for retirement and the retirement formula
applied to final average salary (FAS) for the state and local employees’ group under the Traditional
Pension Plan as per the reduced benefits adopted by SB 343:

Group A Group B Group C
Eligible to retire prior to 20 years of service credit prior to Members not in other Groups
January 7, 2013 or five years January 7, 2013 or eligible to retire and members hired on or after
after January 7, 2013 ten years after January 7, 2013 January 7, 2013
State and Local State and Local State and Local
Age and Service Requirements: Age and Service Requirements: Age and Service Requirements:
Age 60 with 60 months of service Age 60 with 60 months of service credit Age 57 with 25 years of service credit
credit or Age 55 with 25 years of or Age 55 with 25 years of service or Age 62 with 5 years of service credit
service credit credit
Formula: Formula: Formula:
2.2% of FAS multiplied by years of 2.2% of FAS multiplied by year of 2.2% of FAS multiplied by years of
Service for the first 30 years and service for the first 30 years and 2.5% service for the first 35 years and 2.5%
2.5% for service years in excess of for service years in excess of 30 for service years in excess of 35

30
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Final average salary (FAS) represents the average of the three highest years of earnings over a member’s
career for Groups A and B. Group C is based on the average of the five highest years of earnings over a
member’s career.

Members who retire before meeting the age and years of service credit requirement for unreduced benefits
receive a percentage reduction in the benefit amount.

When a benefit recipient has received benefits for 12 months, an annual cost of living adjustment (COLA)
is provided. This COLA is calculated on the base retirement benefit at the date of retirement and is not
compounded. For those retiring prior to January 7, 2013, the COLA will continue to be a 3% simple annual
COLA. For those retiring subsequent to January 7, 2013, beginning in calendar year 2019, the COLA was
be based on the average percentage increase in the Consumer Price Index, capped at 3%.

Funding Policy—The ORC provides statutory authority for member and employer contributions. For 2019,
member contribution rates were 10% of salary and employer contribution rates were 14%. Employer
contribution rates are actuarially determined and are expressed as a percentage of covered payroll. The
Authority’s contractually required contribution was $9,263,774 for 2019. Of this amount, $900,620 is
reported as accrued payroll and fringe benefits.

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources for
Pensions

The net pension liability for OPERS was measured as of December 31, 2018 and the total pension liability
used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The
Authority’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on the Authority’s share of contributions to the
pension plan relative to the contributions of all participating entities. Following is information related to the
proportionate share:

Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability $ 110,351,252
Proportion of the Net Pension Liability 0.4029187%
Change in Proportion -0.0513843%
Pension Expense $ 24,942,239

At December 31, 2019, the Authority reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience $ 5,090
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on plan investments 14,977,754
Change in assumptions 9,606,347
Change in proportionate share and difference in employer contributions 2,423,992
Authority contributions subsequent to measurement date 9,263,774
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources $ 36,276,957

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience $  (1,448,975)
Change in proportionate share and difference in employer contributions (5,275,896)
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources $ (6,724,871)
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$9,263,774 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pension resulting from Authority
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension
liability in the year ending December 31, 2020. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources
and deferred inflows of resources related to pension will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year Ending December 31:

2020 $ 9,592,542
2021 2,340,520
2022 1,389,491
2023 6,965,759

$ 20,288,312

Actuarial Assumptions — OPERS

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the values of reported amounts and
assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include
assumptions about future employment, mortality and cost trends. Actuarially determined amounts are
subject to continual review or modification as actual results are compared with past expectations and new
estimates are made about the future.

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as
understood by the employers and plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of
each valuation. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2018, actuarial valuation was determined
using the following actuarial assumptions:

Investment rate of return:

Current year 7.20%

Prior year 7.50%
Wage inflation 3.25%
Projected salary increases 3.25% - 10.75%

(including wage inflation at 3.25%)

Cost-of-living adjustments:

Pre 1/7/2013 Retirees 3.00% simple
Post 1/7/2013 Retirees 3.00% simple
through 2018, then 2.15% Simple
Actuarial cost method Individual entry age

Pre-retirement mortality rates are based on the RP-2014 Employees mortality table for males and females,
adjusted for mortality improvement back to the observation period base year of 2006. The base year for
males and females was then established to be 2015 and 2010, respectively. Post-retirement morality rates
are based on the RP-2014 Healthy Annuitant mortality table for males and females, adjusted for mortality
improvement back to the observation period base year of 2006. The base year for males and females was
then established to be 2015 and 2010, respectively. Post-retirement mortality rates for disabled retirees
are based on the RP-2014 Disabled mortality table for males and females, adjusted for mortality
improvement back to the observation period base year of 2006. The base year for males and females was
then established to be 2015 and 2010, respectively. Mortality rates for a particular calendar year are
determined by applying the MP-2015 mortality improvement scale to all of the above described table.

The most recent experience study was completed for the five-year period ended December 31, 2015.
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The long-term rate of return on defined benefit investment assets was determined using a building-block
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return are developed for each major
asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected real rate of return by weighting
the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage, adjusted for inflation.

During 2018, OPERS managed investments in three investment portfolios: the Defined Benefit portfolio,
the Health Care portfolio, and the Defined Contribution portfolio. The Defined Benefit portfolio contains the
investment assets for the Traditional Pension Plan, the defined benefit component of the Combined Plan
and the annuitized accounts of the Member-Directed Plan. Within the Defined Benefit portfolio,
contributions into the plans are all recorded at the same time, and benefit payments all occur on the first
of the month. Accordingly, the money-weighted rate of return is considered to be the same for all plans
within the portfolio. The annual money-weighted rate of return expressing investment performance, net of
investment expenses and adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested, for the Defined Benefit
portfolio was a loss of 2.94% for 2018.

The allocation of investment assets with the Defined Benefit portfolio is approved by the Board of Trustees
as outlined in the annual investment plan. Plan assets are managed on a total return basis with a long-
term objective of achieving and maintaining a fully funded status for the benefits provided through the
defined benefit pension plans. The table below displays the Board-approved asset allocation policy for
2018 and the long-term expected real rates of return:
Weighted Average
Long-Term Expected

Target Real Rate of Return

Asset Class Allocation (Arithmetic)
Fixed Income 23.00% 2.79%
Domestic Equities 19.00% 6.21%
Real Estate 10.00% 4.90%
Private Equity 10.00% 10.81%
International Equities 20.00% 7.83%
Other Investments 18.00% 5.50%
Total 100.00% 5.95%

Discount Rate The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.20%. The projection of
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members and those
of the contributing employers are made at the statutorily required rates. Based on those assumptions, the
pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit
payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan
investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

Sensitivity of the Authority’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the
Discount Rate. The following table represents the Authority’s proportionate share of the net pension
liability calculated using the current period discount rate assumption of 7.20%, as well as what the
Authority’s proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount
rate that is one-percentage point lower (6.20%) and one-percentage point higher (8.20%) than the current

rate:
Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(6.20%) (7.20%) (8.20%)
Authority's proportionate share
of the net pension liability $ 163,020,726 $ 110,351,252 $ 66,582,242
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Net OPEB Liability

The net OPEB liability reported on the statement of net position represents a liability to employees for
OPEB. OPEB is a component of exchange transactions—between an employer and its employees—of
salaries and benefits for employee services. OPEB are provided to an employee—on a deferred-payment
basis—as part of the total compensation package offered by an employer for employee services each
financial period. The obligation to sacrifice resources for OPEB is a present obligation because it was
created as a result of employment exchanges that already have occurred.

The net OPEB liability represents the Authority’s proportionate share of each OPEB plan’s collective
actuarial present value of projected benefit payments attributable to past periods of service, net of each
OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position. The net OPEB liability calculation is dependent on critical long-term
variables, including estimated average life expectancies, earnings on investments, cost of living
adjustments, health care cost trends and others. While these estimates use the best information available,
unknowable future events require adjusting these estimates annually.

Ohio Revised Code limits the Authority’s obligation for this liability to annual required payments. The
Authority cannot control benefit terms or the manner in which OPEB are financed; however, the Authority
does receive the benefit of employees’ services in exchange for compensation including OPEB.

GASB Statement No. 75 assumes the liability is solely the obligation of the employer, because they benefit
from employee services. OPEB contributions come from these employers and health care plan enrollees
which pay a portion of the health care costs in the form of a monthly premium. The Ohio Revised Code
permits, but does not require, the retirement systems to provide health care to eligible benefit recipients.
Any change to benefits or funding could significantly affect the net OPEB liability. Resulting adjustments
to the net OPEB liability would be effective when the changes are legally enforceable. The retirement
systems may allocate a portion of the employer contributions to provide for these OPEB benefits.

The proportionate share of each plan’s unfunded benefits is presented as a long-term net OPEB liability
on the accrual basis of accounting. Any liability for the contractually-required OPEB contributions
outstanding at the end of the year is included in accrued payroll and fringe benefits on the accrual basis
of accounting.

Plan Description — Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS)

The Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS) administers three separate pension plans: the
Traditional Pension Plan, a cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit plan; the Member-Directed
Plan, a defined contribution plan; and the Combined Plan, a cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined
benefit plan that has elements of both a defined benefit and defined contribution plan.

OPERS maintains a cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit post-employment health care trust,
which funds multiple health care plans including medical coverage, prescription drug coverage and
deposits to a Health Reimbursement Arrangement to qualifying benefit recipients of both the Traditional
Pension and Combined plans. This trust is also used to fund health care for Member-Directed plan
participants, in the form of a Retiree Medical Account (RMA). At retirement or refund, Member-Directed
plan participants may be eligible for reimbursement of qualified medical expenses from their vested RMA
balance.

In order to qualify for postemployment health care coverage, age and service retirees under the Traditional
Pension and Combined plans must have twenty or more years of qualifying Ohio service credit. Health
care coverage for disability benefit recipients and qualified survivor benefit recipients is available. The
health care coverage provided by OPERS meets the definition of an other postemployment benefit (OPEB)
as described in GASB Statement No. 75. See OPERS’ CAFR referenced below for additional information.
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The Ohio Revised Code permits, but does not require, OPERS to provide health care to its eligible benefit
recipients. Authority to establish and amend health care coverage is provided to the Board in Chapter 145
of the Ohio Revised Code.

Disclosures for the health care plan are presented separately in the OPERS financial report. Interested
parties may obtain a copy by visiting https://www.opers.org/financial/reports.shtml, by writing to OPERS,
277 East Town Street, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4642, or by calling (614) 222-5601 or 800-222-7377.

Funding Policy—The Ohio Revised Code provides statutory authority requiring public employers to fund
postemployment health care through their contributions to OPERS. When funding is approved by OPERS’
Board of Trustees, a portion of each employer’s contribution to OPERS is set aside to fund OPERS health
care plans. Beginning in 2018, health care is not being funded.

Employer contribution rates are expressed as a percentage of the earnable salary of active members. In
2019, state and local employers contributed at a rate of 14.0% of earnable. This is the maximum employer
contribution rate permitted by the Ohio Revised Code. Active member contributions do not fund health
care.

Each year, the OPERS Board determines the portion of the employer contribution rate that will be set
aside to fund health care plans. The portion of employer contributions allocated to health care for members
in the Traditional Pension and Combined plans was 0.0% for both plans for 2019. For the year ended
December 31, 2019, OPERS did not allocate any employer contributions to postemployment health care.
The OPERS Board is also authorized to establish rules for the retiree or their surviving beneficiaries to
pay a portion of the health care provided. Payment amounts vary depending on the number of covered
dependents and the coverage selected. The employer contribution as a percentage of covered payroll
deposited into the RMA for participants in the Member-Directed Plan for 2019 was 4.0%.

OPEB Liabilities, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources for Pensions

The net OPEB liability and total OPEB liability for OPERS were determined by an actuarial valuation as of
December 31, 2017, rolled forward to the measurement date of December 31, 2018, by incorporating the
expected value of health care cost accruals, the actual health care payment, and interest accruals during
the year. The Authority’s proportion of the net OPEB liability was based on the Authority’s share of
contributions to the retirement system relative to the contributions of all participating entities. The following
is information related to the proportionate share and OPEB expense:

Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability $ 53,405,611
Proportion of the Net OPEB Liability 0.4096264%
Change in Proportion -0.0517363%
OPEB Expense $ 4,760,119
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At December 31, 2019, the Authority reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to OPEB from the following sources:

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience $ 18,085
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on plan investments 2,448,331
Change in assumptions 1,721,861
Change in proportionate share and difference in employer contributions 1,847,821
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources $ 6,036,098

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience $ (144,905)
Change in proportionate share and difference in employer contributions (3,850,989)
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources (3,995,894)

»

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB
will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:

Year Ending December 31.:

2020 $ 1,710,385
2021 (1,249,004)
2022 345,432
2023 1,233,391

$ 2,040,204

Actuarial Assumptions — OPERS

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and
assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include
assumptions about future employment, mortality, and cost trends. Actuarially determined amounts are
subject to continual review or modification as actual results are compared with past expectations and new
estimates are made about the future.

Projections of health care costs for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan and
include the types of coverages provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing
of costs between OPERS and plan members. The total OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial
valuation as of December 31, 2017, rolled forward to the measurement date of December 31, 2018.
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The actuarial valuation used the following actuarial assumptions applied to all prior periods included in the
measurement in accordance with the requirements of GASB Statement No. 74:

Wage inflation 3.25%
Projected salary increases 3.25% to 10.75%
including wage inflation

Single discount rate:

Current measurement date 3.96%

Prior measurement date 3.85%
Investment rate of return:

Current measurement date 6.00%

Prior measurement date 6.50%
Municipal bond rate:

Current measurement date 3.71%

Prior measurement date 3.31%

Health care cost trend rate:
Current measurement date | 10.00% initial, 3.25% ultimate in 2029
Prior measurement date 7.50% initial, 3.25% ultimate in 2028

Actuarial cost method Individual entry age

Pre-retirement mortality rates are based on the RP-2014 Employees mortality table for males and females,
adjusted for mortality improvement back to the observation period base year of 2006. The base year for
males and females was then established to be 2015 and 2010, respectively. Post-retirement mortality
rates are based on the RP-2014 Healthy Annuitant mortality table for males and females, adjusted for
improvement back to the observation period base year of 2006. The base year for males and females was
then established to be 2015 and 2010, respectively. Post-retirement mortality rates for disabled retirees
are based on the RP-2014 Disabled mortality table for males and females, adjusted for mortality
improvement back to the observation period base year of 2006. The base year for males and females was
then established to be 2015 and 2010, respectively. Mortality rates for a particular calendar year are
determined by applying the MP-2015 mortality improvement scale to all of the above tables.

The most recent experience study was completed for the five-year period ended December 31, 2015.

The long-term expected rate of return on health care investment assets was determined using a building-
block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return are developed for each
major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected real rate of return by
weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage, adjusted for
inflation.

During 2018, OPERS managed investments in three investment portfolios: the Defined Benefit portfolio,
the Health Care portfolio and the Defined Contribution portfolio. The Health Care portfolio includes the
assets for health care expenses for the Traditional Pension Plan, Combined Plan and Member-Directed
Plan eligible members. Within the Health Care portfolio, contributions into the plans are assumed to be
received continuously throughout the year based on the actual payroll payable at the time contributions
are made, and health care-related payments are assumed to occur mid-year. Accordingly, the money-
weighted rate of return is considered to be the same for all plans within the portfolio. The annual money-
weighted rate of return expressing investment performance, net of investment expenses and adjusted for
the changing amounts actually invested, for the Health Care portfolio was a loss of 5.60% for 2018.
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The allocation of investment assets within the Health Care portfolio is approved by the OPERS Board as
outlined in the annual investment plan. Assets are managed on a total return basis with a long-term
objective of continuing to offer a sustainable health care program for current and future retirees. OPERS’
primary goal is to achieve and maintain a fully funded status for benefits provided through the defined
pension plans. Health care is a discretionary benefit. The table below displays the OPERS Board-approved
asset allocation policy for 2018 and the long-term expected real rates of return.

Weighted Average
Long-Term Expected

Target Real Rate of Return
Asset Class Allocation (Arithmetic)
Fixed Income 34.00% 2.42%
Domestic Equities 21.00% 6.21%
REITs 6.00% 5.98%
International Equities 22.00% 7.83%
Other Investments 17.00% 5.57%
Total 100.00% 5.16%

Discount Rate A single discount rate of 3.96% was used to measure the OPEB liability on the
measurement date of December 31, 2018. Projected benefit payments are required to be discounted to
their actuarial present value using a single discount rate that reflects (1) a long-term expected rate of return
on OPEB plan investments (to the extent that the health care fiduciary net position is projected to be
sufficient to pay benefits), and (2) tax-exempt municipal bond rate based on an index of 20-year general
obligation bonds with an average AA credit rating as of the measurement date (to the extent that the
contributions for use with the long-term expected rate are not met). This single discount rate was based
on an expected rate of return on the health care investment portfolio of 6.00% and a municipal bond rate
of 3.71%. The projection of cash flows used to determine this single discount rate assumed that employer
contributions will be made at rates equal to the actuarially determined contribution rate. Based on these
assumptions, the health care fiduciary net position and future contributions were sufficient to finance health
care costs through 2031. As a result, the long-term expected rate of return on health care investments
was applied to projected costs through the year 2031, and the municipal bond rate was applied to all health
care costs after that date.

Sensitivity of the Authority’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the
Discount Rate. The following table presents the Authority’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability
calculated using the single discount rate of 3.96%, as well as what the Authority’s proportionate share of
the net OPEB liability if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1.0% point lower (2.96%) or 1.0%
point higher (4.96%) than the current rate:

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(2.96%) (3.96%) (4.96%)
Authority's proportionate share
of the net OPEB liability $ 68,323,791 $ 53,405,611 $ 41,539,063
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Other Postemployment Benefit (OPEB) Plans (continued)

Sensitivity of the Authority’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the
Health Care Cost Trend Rate. Changes in the health care cost trend rate may also have a significant
impact on the net OPEB liability. The following table presents the net OPEB liability calculated using the
assumed trend rates, and the expected net OPEB liability if it were calculated using a health care cost
trend rate that is 1.0% lower or 1.0% higher than the current rate.

Retiree health care valuations use a health care cost-trend assumption that changes over several years
built into the assumption. The near-term rates reflect increases in the current cost of health care; the trend
starting in 2019 is 10.00%. If this trend continues for future years, the projection indicates that years from
now virtually all expenditures will be for health care. A more reasonable alternative is that in the not-too-
distant future, the health plan cost trend will decrease to a level at, or near, wage inflation. On this basis,
the actuaries project premium rate increases will continue to exceed wage inflation for approximately the
next decade, but by less each year, until leveling off at an ultimate rate, assumed to be 3.25% in the most
recent valuation.
Current Health
Care Cost Trend
1% Decrease Rate Assumption 1% Increase

Authority's proportionate share
of the net OPEB liability $ 51,332,959 $ 53,405,611 $ 55,789,571

Contingent Liabilities

Litigation

It is the Authority’s policy to act as self-insurer for certain insurable risks consisting primarily of public
liability and property damage. At December 31, 2019, COTA has been named in various public liability
and property damage claims and suits, some of which seek significant damages. The ultimate outcome of
the claims and suits cannot be determined; however, it is the opinion of management that any resulting
liability to the Authority in excess of that provided for in the accompanying balance sheet will not have a
material adverse effect on the Authority’s financial position.

Federal and State Grants

Under the terms of the Authority’s various grants, periodic audits are required where certain costs could
be questioned as not being an eligible expenditure under the terms of the grants. At December 31, 2019,
there were no material questioned costs that had not been resolved with appropriate federal and state
agencies. Questioned costs could still be identified during audits to be conducted in the future. In the
opinion of COTA’s management, no material grant expenditures will be disallowed. FTA grant stipulations
also require the granter to retain assets acquired by FTA funds for the full estimated asset life (as
determined by the FTA). If this provision is not met, the granter must refund FTA’s un-depreciated basis
in assets disposed with a net book value greater than $5,000.

Energy Pricing Management Program

Pursuant to Ohio Revised Code sections 9.835 (A), (B), and section (C) the Central Ohio Transit Authority
has established an energy price risk management program to decrease the volatility of diesel fuel and
natural gas cost, and increase the likelihood that actual net energy costs will remain below the budgeted
cost, increase the certainty of future cost, attain a lower overall cost of fuel and natural gas in the long-
term, and manage year-over-year changes in energy costs. Within this program, COTA will acquire, hold,
and dispose of positions in exchange-traded futures contracts and other financial instruments including
but not limited to use of futures, options, options on future, or fixed price delivery contracts. In 2019 and
2018, heating oil #2 futures contracts as well as natural gas contracts were utilized. The COTA Board
approval limits contracts in-place to a maximum hedge ratio of up to 100% of forecast consumption, up to
thirty-six (36) months into the future. The initial value of each contract is zero.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

(13)

(14)

Energy Pricing Management Program (continued)

The price of diesel fuel purchased is the published Columbus, Ohio OPIS price for the week plus or minus
a differential agreed to through a competitive bidding process. The differential to the published Columbus,
Ohio OPIS price was $0.0239 and $0.0215 per gallon at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The
price of natural gas purchased is the New York Mercantile Exchange monthly closing index plus or minus
a margin agreed to through a competitive bidding process. For the year ending December 31, 2019 a loss
of $169,634 was recognized as an increase in diesel fuel expense. For the year ending December 31,
2018 a gain of $770,843 was recognized as a decrease in diesel fuel expense. On December 31, 2019
the open diesel fuel contracts had $53,555 of unrealized gain. On December 31, 2019, the open natural
gas contracts had $100,285 of unrealized loss. The amount realized will change based on market prices
at the time all contract settlements are fixed. There is no debt associated with these contracts.

Subsequent Event

The United States and the State of Ohio declared a state of emergency in March 2020 due to the COVID-
19 pandemic. The financial impact of COVID-19 and ensuing emergency measures will impact subsequent
periods of the Authority. The investments of the pension and other employee benefit plans in which the
Authority participates have incurred a significant decline in fair value, consistent with the general decline
in financial markets. However, because the values of individual investments fluctuate with market
conditions, and due to market volatility, the amount of those losses that will be recognized in subsequent
periods, if any, cannot be determined. In addition, the impact on the Authority’s future operating costs,
revenues, and any recovery from emergency funding, either federal or state, cannot be estimated.
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Required Supplementary Information




CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF THE AUTHORITY'S PROPORTIONATE
SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY
OHIO PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM

LAST SIX YEARS (1) (2)

Authority's Authority's Authority's Proportionate Plan Fiduciary
Proportion Proportionate Share of the Net Net Position as a
of the Net Share of the Authority's Pension Liability as Percentage of the
Pension Net Pension Covered a Percentage of its Total Pension
Liability Liability Payroll Covered Payroll Liability
2014 0.363971% $ 42,862,731 $ 38,340,346 111.80% 86.36%
2015 0.363971% 43,734,920 44,622,933 98.01% 86.45%
2016 0.390550% 67,648,215 48,887,633 138.37% 81.08%
2017 0.408070% 92,665,735 52,764,617 175.62% 77.25%
2018 0.454303% 71,271,333 59,997,877 118.79% 84.66%
2019 0.402919% 110,351,252 60,978,236 180.97% 74.70%

(1) Information prior to 2014 is not available. The Authority will continue to presented for years
available until a full ten-year trend is compiled.

(2) Amounts presented for each year were determined as of the Authority's measurement
date, which is the prior year-end.
NOTES TO SCHEDULE:

Change in assumptions. In 2017, changes in assumptions were made based upon an updated experience study that was
completed for the five-year period ended December 31, 2015. Significant changes included a reduction of the discount rat
from 8.0% to 7.5%, a reduction in the wage inflation rate from 3.75% to 3.25%, and transition from the RP-2000 mortality
tables to the RP-2014 mortality tables.

In 2019, a reduction of the discount rate was made from 7.5% to 7.2%.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF THE AUTHORITY'S PENSION CONTRIBUTIONS
OHIO PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM

LAST SEVEN YEARS (1)

Contributions in
Relation to the

Contributions

Contractually Contractually Contribution Authority's as a Percentage
Required Required Deficiency Covered of Covered

Contributions Contributions (Excess) Payroll Payroll
2013 $ 4,984,245 $  (4,984,245) $ - $ 38,340,346 13.00%
2014 5,354,752 (5,354,752) - 44,622,933 12.00%
2015 5,866,516 (5,866,516) - 48,887,633 12.00%
2016 6,331,754 (6,331,754) - 52,764,617 12.00%
2017 7,799,724 (7,799,724) - 59,997,877 13.00%
2018 8,536,953 (8,536,953) - 60,978,236 14.00%
2019 9,263,774 (9,263,774) - 66,169,814 14.00%

(1) Information prior to 2013 is not available. The Authority will continue to presented for years
available until a full ten-year trend is compiled.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF THE AUTHORITY'S PROPORTIONATE
SHARE OF THE NET OPEB LIABILITY
OHIO PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM

LAST THREE YEARS (1) (2)

Plan Fiduciary

Authority's Authority's Authority's Proportionate
Proportion Proportionate Share of the Net Net Position as a
of the Net Share of the Authority's OPEB Liability as Percentage of the
OPEB Net OPEB Covered a Percentage of its Total OPEB
Liability Liability Payroll Covered Payroll Liability
2017 0.4080699% $ 41,216,446 $ 52,764,617 78.11% 54.05%
2018 0.4613627% 50,100,594 59,997,877 83.50% 54.14%
2019 0.4096264% 53,405,611 60,978,236 87.58% 46.33%

(1) Information prior to 2017 is not available. The Authority will continue to presented for years
available until a full ten-year trend is compiled.

(2) Amounts presented for each year were determined as of the Authority's measurement
date, which is the prior year-end.

NOTES TO SCHEDULE:

Change in assumptions. In 2018, the single discount rate changed from 4.23% to 3.85%.

In 2019, the single discount rate changed from 3.85% to 3.96%, the investment rate of return changed from
6.50% to 6.00%, and the health care cost trend rate changed from 7.5% initial to 10.0% initial.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF THE AUTHORITY'S OPEB CONTRIBUTIONS
OHIO PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM

LAST FIVE YEARS (1)

Contributions in

Relation to the Contributions
Contractually Contractually Contribution Authority's as a Percentage
Required Required Deficiency Covered of Covered

Contributions Contributions (Excess) Payroll Payroll
2015 $ 977,753 $ (977,753) $ - $ 48,887,633 2.00%
2016 1,055,292 (1,055,292) - 52,764,617 2.00%
2017 599,979 (599,979) - 59,997,877 1.00%
2018 - - - 60,978,236 0.00%
2019 - - - 66,169,814 0.00%

(1) Information prior to 2015 is not available. The Authority will continue to presented for years
available until a full ten-year trend is compiled.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

Supplemental Schedule of Revenues, Expenses and
Changes in Net Position - Budget vs. Actual (Accrual Basis)

Year ended December 31, 2019

BUDGET ACTUAL VARIANCE
OPERATING REVENUES. ..ottt $ 19,725,237 $ 19,031,797 $ (693,440)
OPERATING EXPENSES OTHER THAN DEPRECIATION:
LADOT. .. 73,336,875 64,771,226 8,565,649
Fringe Denefits........cooiiiiii 29,245,967 36,344,199 (7,098,232)
Materials and SUPPHES. ....cocuuviiiiiieiii e 12,917,889 13,003,490 (85,601)
Fuel. ..o 5,760,728 5,604,153 156,575
Purchased transportation.... 8,984,245 8,778,525 205,720
SerViCeS......cocvviviriiieeeenn 18,595,429 14,505,867 4,089,562
UIITIES s 3,110,791 2,713,131 397,660
Claims and insurance, net of settlements.............cccoovviiiiiciiccc 1,202,760 469,096 733,664
Miscellaneous . 3,069,376 3,598,034 (528,658)
TOTAL e 156,224,060 149,787,721 6,436,339
DEPRECIATION. ...ttt 34,500,000 29,499,960 5,000,040
Total Operating EXPENSES. .......uciiiiiiiiiieitie ettt 190,724,060 179,287,681 11,436,379
OPERATING LOSS ... ot e e e (170,998,823) (160,255,884) 10,742,939
NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):
SAlIES TAX TEVENUES......ceiiiiiie et 132,736,384 135,701,616 2,965,232
Federal 0perating grant.............uoieii i 1,494,468 436,008 (1,058,460)
State operating grants, reimbursements and
Special fare asSIStANCE. .......c.uuiiiiiii i 601,147 748,250 147,103
INVESTMENT INCOME.......eiiiiiiiiie e 3,000,000 3,976,278 976,278
Regional transit SUDSIAY ... ........vtiitiitii e (3,600,000) (3,585,334) 14,666
Non-operating project eXPense..........covvvuvereieeneenns (6,811) (289,012) (282,201)
Non-transportation and other revenues 2,179,219 1,557,032 (622,187)
Loss on disposal of capital assets.................. - (74,904) (74,904)
TOMAL e 136,404,407 138,469,934 2,065,527
Change before capital grantS...........coooiiiiii i (34,594,416) (21,785,950) 12,808,466
CAPITAL GRANT REVENUE:
FEABTAL ... 72,561,763 25,207,252 (47,354,511)
TOAL Lot 72,561,763 25,207,252 (47,354,511)
CHANGE IN NET POSITION ....uiiiiiit it e 37,967,347 3,421,302 (34,546,045)
NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR.......cuiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 447,409,395 447,409,395 -
NET POSITION, END OF YEAR......iiiiiiiii it e $ 485,376,742 $ 450,830,697 $ (34,546,045)

Note to Supplemental Schedule:

COTA adopts its annual budget on a GAAP basis prior to the start of each year. However, pension expense reported by COTA on
the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Change in Net Position contains an allocation of COTA's proportionate share of the
State-wide pension system's pension/OPEB expense (with the exception of current year contributions) which is not anticipated in
the operating budget adopted or accounted for within the general ledger accounts throughout the year, and therefore the

NPL/OPEB related items are not included within the budgetary net position amounts.

The table that follows demonstrates the difference between the Budgeted Revenues, Expenses and Change in Net Position:

Change in Net Position, GAAP Basis
Budgeting Difference:
Recognition of proportionate share of state-wide pension system's
pension/OPEB expense for current year.
Change in Net Position, Budgeted Accrual Basis
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$

(17,017,281)

20,438,583

$

3,421,302
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STATISTICAL
SECTION

This part of COTA’'s comprehensive annual financial report contains detailed information
presented in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement
No. 44, Economic Condition Reporting: The Statistical Section. These schedules provide
additional details to better understand the financial statements, notes and required
supplemental information.

Financial Trends and Revenue Capacity P54-62
These schedules indicate how the Authority’s performance and conditions have changed over a
ten year time frame. Also contained in these schedules in information to help the reader
understand the Authority’s most significant revenue sources.

Debt Capacity P63-65
These schedules indicate COTA specific debt service information as well as direct and
overlapping debt computations from Franklin County.

Economic and Demoqraphic Information P66-68

These schedules contain economic and demographic indicators to help the reader
understand the environment within which the Authority’s financial activities take place.

Operating Information P69-73
These schedules contain data to help the reader understand how to the information in
the Authority’s financial report relates to the services the Authority provides and the
activities it performs.




Sjuawajels |eldueuly lenuue palipne Ajjuspuadapul s,Aluoyiny ayl :924nos
siseq |enJooe ue uo ‘sa|dpulid Sujaunodde paydadde Ajjesauasd yiim 9dueplodde ul pajuasald ale sjunowy

"8T0Z ut pajuswaldwi G2 gSVO «

"GTOZ ut pajuswaldwi 89 gSVO «

vZ1'999'8T€ ¢ SOV'E89'SEE ¢ 6LE'SES'TOF  $  06V'€2Z'08€ ¢ 6¥9'CSC'S9E $  G66'L6T'8CE ¢ CI8'WCE'TEE  $  0SV'9T9'062 ¢ G8E€'SCC'TSe  $ SLS'069'€TC ¢ NOILISOd 13N TV.10L
168'8.6'C8 219'999°CTT %06'995°09T 22T'9eL29T TE0'L99°EVT 0£9'2€8'6TT ¥,9'8Y.'0VT 766'€90'8TT 22.'602'T0T ¥9T'96T 6L pajuisaiun
€ec'/89'eec  $  €6L'9TO'tce ¢ G/¥'896'0vc  $  89€'/8Y' T $  8T19'G8S'Tce ¢ G9E'G9E'80C  $  8ET'9LS'06T ¢  9GK'eSS'CLT ¢ €99'GTO0ST ¢ TIV'ver'vel ¢ S18sSY [ende) ul JusLWISaAU|
NOILISOd 13N
6102 8T0¢C L102 9T0C ST0C 102 €10C 210e T10C 0T0C

SIeaA [e9SIH Ua] 1seT
1usuodwo)d Ag uonisod 18N

ALIHOHLNY LISNVYL OIHO 1Vd1N3D

54



SJuaWale]s [eloueUl [enuue panpne Apuapuadapul s,AoyINy 8yl :821n0S
siseq [eniooe ue uo ‘sajdioulid Bununodoe paidasoe Ajjelauab yim aouepiodde ul pajuasald ale sjunowy

999'8T€  $ £89'GEE SESTOY €22'08€ $ 25259 $ 86T'82E SZETEE $ 919062 $ 9zzISe $ 169°€TC $
- (919'01) - - - - - - - -
- - - - - (Tze'L€) - - - -
£89'5E€ GESTOY €22'08¢ 252'59¢€ 861'82€ sze'Tee 919'06¢ 9z2'15¢ T69'€TZ SLEELT
(L10°2T) (9gz'se) 2Ie'Te TL6'VT ¥50'L€ ¥6T'vE 60.'0v 06€'6E GeS'LE 9TE' 0V
L02's Lyv'e 618'6E 0€8'€T 68€'92 926'22 L0€'9Z 128'T2 67022 SLE'62
26T 8zT 753 - - - - 986 0992 197y
ST0'ST 6TE'E L¥2'9E 0€8'€T 68€'92 9z6'22 L0€'9Z 56802 65€'6T v16'vC
(veeey) (€89'82) (2058T) Wit G99°0T 89Z'TT 207 VT 695°LT 9TG'GT Tv6°0T
0L1'8€ET €8T'9ET 169'EET LT8'TET 150'22T Sv9'6TT 65V VTT ¥19'20T S0'0T 798'76
(G2) (r.2€) (z69) (682) 44 (0€) - (ce6) (99) (059)
(682) (899) (60%'7) (912'T) - - - - - -
(g85'€) (€56) (8£0'T) (805'T) (ov2) (z20'T) - - - -
1SS'T 122'T 6.6 1.6 256 €6 870'T Lv6 880'T 186
9/6'€ TIE'E 765°T 106 v.Z ¥8€ erT (44 62 8¢
8L 898'T £00'8 965 619 SvL 0€8 116 966 296
9er S6€ €TT 295 192 44 ¥Ze'T 90v 566'C 06
20L'SET €8E'TET €rT'62T Y6LTET €9T'52T €99'8TT YIZTTIT 758°50T £66'86 LEV'EB
(#69'08T) (998'v9T) (v0z'2ST) (929'0€T) (e6€'91T) (22€'80T) (250°'00T) (50°06) (625'88) (e26°€8)
92.°66T 882 78T 268TLT TOZ'0ST 80V'9ET 882°62T TSE02T €0°0TT LEV'90T 200°00T
005°62 TS'6C €922 9/€'Se 69V ¥60°2 87002 GEE'9T €EEET 29T
922'0LT L€8'YST 6T VYT 528'%2T 6E6°TTT ¥6T°20T £0€°00T 8EL'E6 70T'€6 0€€'/8
€55°C T6EC 8.2°C 266'T €597 8/2T 8€6 758 B2 692
€LT 95T €LT 98T ST 8T €8T S8T v8z e
6LL'8 698'2 699°L ze8'L [aZ2 259°L 9ET'L €eL'9 €€5'9 190'9
2.8 89L 8LL 0SL ¥18 098 LE0'T €6 166 096
697 e 8.1 1S 0ST are (¥Sr) 08 8€ee (¥8)
€TL'T 888'C 192'C 8€0°C 660'C 6L1°C 118'T 285'T L€6'T 768'T
¥09'S 6.2'S §8L'€ 96y 9089 9€5'8 520'6 L8€E'8 885°L ¥S€‘9
€00°€T 89G'TT G8E'0T 170'6 952'8 2LEL 8569 L0E'9 162'9 158'S
90S'¥T 706'0T vST'TT 982'0T 06T'8 692'L vrL'L €66'S 225’9 8TT'9
€895 €86'7S 906'LY 18L'GE 11562 20v'8z 0z1'92 9972 20€'ve ¥8€'€T
TLL'Y9 06.'65 9S'LS 926'1S LES'9Y oTZ'ey 508'6€ L€0'8E €29'L€ 9/9'GE
2€0'6T 2Zv'6T 889°61 G2S'6T 910°0Z 11602 76202 82002 806'LT 6.0°9T
- - - - - - - - 43 1C
€28 5v8 2.8 298 6.8 8L SLL 2L 1.9 959
602'8T  $ L.5'8T 918'8T £99'8T $  LeT'6T $ 0eT'0Z 6TG'6T $ 95z'6T $ Gee'lT $  2ov'ST $
6102 8102 LT02 9102 STOC ¥T0C €T0C ZT02 1102 0T0Z

"8T0 Ul pajuawajdwl G/ dSVO «

"GTOZ Ul pajuawajdwl 89 SO «

dv3A 40 AN3 ‘NOILISOd 13N
G/ dSV9 ‘uawareisay
89 dSVYO JuawareIsay
dV3A 40 ONINNIO3E ‘NOILISOd L3N
NOILISOd 13N NI SIONVHO

[e1o0L

[e207 / a1eIS
|esapa-
SIANNIATH INVEO TVLIdVO
wayl [e1oads pue sjuelfb [eyded aiojaq (ssoT)ures

(sesuadxa)sanuanal Buiresado-uou [ejoL
sjasse [ended Jo ajes uo (ssoT)ure
asuadxa 109loid Bunelado-uoN
Apisgns ysuel [euoibay
anuanal Jayjo pue uonenodsuel)-uoN
aWO0dUl JUBWISAAU]
Qoue)sIsse ale) [eloads
pue syuswasinquial ‘syuelf Bupelado arels
sjuswasinquwial pue sjuelb buiresado [eiepa4
sanuanay xe| safes
(SISNIAXI)SINNIATY ONILYHIJO-NON
SSOT ONILYHIdO

sasuadxa Bulyesado [ejo|
uoperaidag

[eloL
Snoaue||aosIn
S[ejual pue sasea’]
uoiyenodsues) paseydind
saxe]
QouRINSU| pue swie|D

saliddns pue sfelarep

EERINVEL

slyauag abuly

Joge]
NOILVIO3Hd3d NVHL ¥3HLO SASNIdX3 ONILYHIdO0
sanuanal bunelado [ejol

anuanal uonyenodsues) Arelixny

salej ysuel) [e1pads

92IAI9S JIsuel) 10} sale) 1abuassed
‘SINNIATY ONILVH3IdO

uonISod 18N Ul sabuey)d pue sasuadx3 ‘sanuanay JO siuawalels

(spuesnoyy ur)

SJeg A |edSIH ua] 1seT

ALIHOHLNY LISNVYHL OIHO 1Vd1N3O

55



SjuBLWBIRIS [RIOURUIY [eNUUER palpne Ajuspuadsapul s,AlloyIny 8yl :82IN0S
"siseq [eniooe ue uo ‘sajdiounid Bununoooe paidadoe Ajjesausb yim aouepiodde Ul pawuasald ate sjunowy

8G9°'08T ¢ /¥O'T9T $ ¢€ve'66T $ G8T'89T $ €0L'€.T $ +#8S'Y9T $ 090'T9T $ 96€'0ST $ 820WPT $  896°'0WT G e SINNIATY TV1IOL
929°/9T G29'TYT GG9'6.T 09981 T /89'€ST €/9'€VT 99/'0%T 89€°0ST 02T'92T 688'veT e senuanal Bunessdo-uou [e1o ]
26T 8¢T 2.G'E - - - - 986 099 o'V e egueIf [eded Jaylo pue arels
§T0'SC 6TE'E VAZALS 0€8'eT 68€9¢ 9z6'ce L0€°9¢ Ge8'0¢ 6SE'6T VI6'yg e sjuelb [endeo [esapad
:sjuelb pue syib jended
6IV'CrT 8/T'8ET 9€8'6ET 0€8'VET 86¢'/2T L¥.'02T 6SY'VIT /¥5'80T TOT'v0T PIG'GE s sjuelb pue syib
fended aloyaq sanuanal Buiyeladouou [e10 |
1SG'T T22'T 6.6 T.6 .6 €€6 870'T LV6 880'T /86 T $9NUBABI JBY10 pue UoiELOodSURL-UON
9/6°€ TTE'E 76G'T L06 V.2 ¥8¢ eVt YA 6¢ gE e BWOoUI JUBWISBAU|
8v. 898'T 100’8 965 029 172 0€8 LT6 966 296 e oue)sIsse ale} [eloads pue
sjuawasinquial ‘syuelb bunelado areirs
9EY S6€ €11 29S8 19¢ 44 v2e'T 90¥% G662 06 e siuelb Buiyesado [esspa4
20.L'SET €8E'TET EVT'62T ¥6L'TET €9T'5eT €99'8TT YT2'TIT ¥G8'G0T £66'86 LEP'EE e Sanuanal xe} sajes

‘SANNIATYE ONILVHIdO-NON

2€0'6T 26T 889°61 G2S'6T 910'02 116°0C ¥62'02 820°0¢ 806°LT 6,007 " sanuanal Bupelado ejo L
- - - - - - - - ZT TC 9NnuUaAal Co_umﬁOQmCm‘: A |IXNy
€¢8 S8 cl8 298 6.8 8L SLL cLL T.9 959 " sdle} Jisuey) [e10ads
60c'8T ¢ /98T $ 918'8T ¢ €998T $ LeT'6T $ 0€T0c ¢ 6TIS6T $ 95¢6T ¢ GecuT $ 2ov'ST  $ ¢ " 90IAISS Jisuel) Jo} sarey Jafuassed
‘SINN3IATY ONILVHIdO
6T0C 8T0¢ LT0C 9T0¢C GT0C 1414 €T0¢ ¢T0¢ T10C 0TOC

(spuesnouys ui)
SIeaA |edsiH ua] 1se’
921Nn0S >Q SaNUBaAay
ALIHOHLNY LISNVYL OIHO 1Vd1N3O

56



610¢

9JUuR]SISSY 9lels 9JUR]SISSY [elopadm

810¢

snoaue||99SIN siuels [elde) aLIS W

sale labusssedm

L10¢ 910¢ ST0¢ ¥10¢ €10¢ ¢10¢

siuels [elde) [elopadm

9NUBNlY Xe] sajesO

T10C

0T0¢C

SIeaA [edSIH4 ual 1se
921n0s Aq sanuanay

ALIHOHLNY 1ISNVYd1 OIHO "1Vd1NdO

$

000°0Z$

000°0v$

000'09%

000°08$

(spuesnoyy ui)

000°00T$

000°0CT$

000°07T$

000°09T$

000°08T$

000°002$

57



CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Revenues and Operating Assistance -
Comparison to Industry Trend Data
Last Ten Fiscal Years

TRANSPORTATION INDUSTRY ¢

OPERATING AND OTHER REVENUE OPERATING ASSISTANCE

STATE & TOTAL ALL
YEAR PASSENGER OTHER TOTAL LOCAL FEDERAL TOTAL REVENUES
2010 32.1% 11.9% 44.0% 46.6% 9.4% 56.0% 100.0%
2011 32.8% 11.1% 43.9% 46.3% 9.8% 56.1% 100.0%
2012 32.5% 11.1% 43.6% 47.5% 8.9% 56.4% 100.0%
2013 32.5% 10.3% 42.8% 48.3% 8.9% 57.2% 100.0%
2014 32.0% 10.8% 42.8% 48.6% 8.6% 57.2% 100.0%
2015 32.5% 11.6% 44.1% 47.6% 8.3% 55.9% 100.0%
2016 31.3% 11.8% 43.1% 48.9% 8.0% 56.9% 100.0%
2017 31.4% 11.8% 43.2% 48.3% 8.5% 56.8% 100.0%
2018 30.7% 11.5% 42.2% 49.2% 8.6% 57.8% 100.0%
2019 * * * * * * *

CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY ¢

OPERATING AND OTHER REVENUE OPERATING ASSISTANCE

STATE & TOTAL ALL

YEAR PASSENGER OTHER TOTAL LOCAL FEDERAL TOTAL REVENUES
(©) 4

2010 10.9% 21.6% 32.5% 67.4% 0.1% 67.5% 100.0%
2011 12.0% 16.1% 28.1% 69.8% 2.1% 71.9% 100.0%
2012 12.8% 15.4% 28.2% 71.5% 0.3% 71.8% 100.0%
2013 12.1% 17.1% 29.2% 70.0% 0.8% 70.8% 100.0%
2014 12.2% 14.7% 26.9% 73.1% 0.0% 73.1% 100.0%
2015 11.0% 15.9% 26.9% 72.9% 0.2% 73.1% 100.0%
2016 11.1% 9.3% 20.4% 79.3% 0.3% 79.6% 100.0%
2017 9.4% 21.3% 30.7% 69.2% 0.1% 69.3% 100.0%
2018 11.5% 5.0% 16.5% 83.3% 0.2% 83.5% 100.0%
2019 9.8% 16.5% 26.3% 73.5% 0.2% 73.7% 100.0%

* Information not available

(1) Source: The American Public Transit Association, APTA Transit Fact Book

(2) Percentages are derived from the Authority's independently audited annual financial statements.

(3) Includes auxiliary transportation revenues, interest income, nontransportation, other revenues and capital grants
(4) Includes local sales tax revenues, and state operating grants, reimbursements, and special fare assistance
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

Farebox Revenues vs. Operating Expenses
Last Ten Fiscal Years

160.0
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$ (in millions)

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Farebox revenues include passenger, special transit, and charter revenues;
operating expenses exclude depreciation

B Farebox Revenues BOperating Expenses

CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

Farebox Recovery Ratio
Last Ten Fiscal Years

25.0%

20.0%

15.0% -

10.0% -

5.0% - [
0.0% - \ \ \ \ \ T T \ \
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Recovery ratio is calculated as farebox revenues (as defined above) divided by
operating expenses (as defined above)
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Operating Expenses - Comparison to Industry Trend Data
Last Ten Fiscal Years

TRANSPORTATION INDUSTRY (1)

LABOR MATERIALS CLAIMS PURCHASED TOTAL

AND AND AND TRANS- OPERATING
YEAR FRINGES SERVICES SUPPLIES UTILITIES INSURANCE PORTATION OTHER EXPENSES
2010 65.2% 6.6% 10.7% 3.4% 2.6% 13.8% (2.3%) 100.0%
2011 65.0% 6.6% 11.4% 3.3% 2.6% 13.3% (2.2%) 100.0%
2012 64.0% 6.9% 1.7% 3.2% 2.2% 13.8% (1.8%) 100.0%
2013 60.7% 7.1% 11.2% 3.1% 2.4% 13.7% 1.8% 100.0%
2014 61.1% 6.9% 11.0% 3.2% 2.5% 13.6% 1.7% 100.0%
2015 61.5% 7.3% 9.8% 3.0% 2.4% 14.2% 1.8% 100.0%
2016 62.6% 7.6% 8.9% 2.7% 2.7% 13.7% 1.6% 100.0%
2017 61.9% 8.1% 8.7% 2.8% 2.8% 14.2% 1.6% 100.0%
2018 61.5% 8.3% 8.7% 2.9% 2.6% 14.5% 1.5% 100.0%

2019

CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY (2

LABOR MATERIALS CLAIMS PURCHASED TOTAL

AND AND AND TRANS- OPERATING
YEAR FRINGES SERVICES SUPPLIES UTILITIES INSURANCE PORTATION OTHER EXPENSES (3)
2010 67.6% 7.0% 14.0% 2.2% -0.1% 6.9% 2.4% 100.0%
2011 66.5% 7.0% 14.9% 2.1% 0.4% 7.0% 2.1% 100.0%
2012 66.9% 6.4% 15.7% 1.7% 0.1% 7.2% 2.0% 100.0%
2013 65.7% 7.7% 15.9% 1.8% -0.5% 71% 2.3% 100.0%
2014 66.8% 6.8% 14.8% 2.0% 0.2% 7.1% 2.3% 100.0%
2015 67.9% 7.3% 13.5% 1.9% 0.1% 6.9% 2.4% 100.0%
2016 70.3% 8.2% 11.2% 1.6% 0.0% 6.3% 2.4% 100.0%
2017 73.1% 7.8% 9.8% 1.6% 0.1% 5.3% 2.3% 100.0%
2018 72.8% 7.0% 10.9% 1.9% 0.2% 51% 21% 100.0%
2019 71.4% 8.5% 10.9% 1.6% 0.3% 5.2% 21% 100.0%

* Information not available
(1) Source: The American Public Transit Association, APTA Transit Fact Book
(2) Percentages are derived from the Authority's independently audited annual financial statements.

(3) Total operating expenses exclude depreciation
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Legal Debt Margin
December 31, 2019

(in thousands)

CALCULATION OF LEGAL OVERALL DEBT MARGIN:

Total assessed property valuation of Authority

(2019 tax year valuation) (1)

......................................................................................... $ 31,952,055,140

Multiplied by: Legal overall debt Imitation (96) ........cccveeeiiiereeiiiiie e 5.00%
Equals: Total legal voted and unvoted debt limitation ...........ccccceeeiii i, $ 1,597,602,757
Less: Nonexempt general obligation debt (voted and unvoted) (2) .....cccccceeeeeeiiiininnen. $ -

Equals: Legal overall debt margin (maximum amount permitted for new
voted and unvoted nonexempt general obligation debt issuances) ...........cccccvvvveeeeenn. $ 1,597,602,757

CALCULATION OF LEGAL UNVOTED DEBT MARGIN:

Total assessed property valuation of Authority

(2019 tax year valuation) (1)

......................................................................................... $ 31,952,055,140

Multiplied by: Legal unvoted debt limitation (%0) ..........cceeeiiiiiiiiiieeee e 0.10%

Equals: Legal unvoted debt Imitation ..........ccccoiiiie i $ 31,952,055

Less: Maximum aggregate amounts of principal and interest
payable in any one calendar YEAr (2) ........ooicueeeiiiiree it s e $ -

Equals: Legal unvoted debt margin (maximum annual debt service charges
permitted for new unvoted nonexempt general obligation debt issuances)............... $ 31,952,055

(1) Source: Franklin County Auditor's Office
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Ratio of General Bonded Debt to Assessed Value and
Net Bonded Debt per Capita
Last Ten Fiscal Years

RATIO OF
ASSESSED GENERAL BONDED DEBT TO BONDED DEBT
YEAR POPULATION VALUE BONDED DEBT  ASSESSED VALUE PER CAPITA
[€)) @) 3
2010 1,163,414 $ 28,868,029,740  $ - 0.00% $0.00
2011 1,173,158 $ 27,147,358,600 $ - 0.00% $0.00
2012 1,168,018 $ 26,973,196,500 $ - 0.00% $0.00
2013 1,195,537 $ 27,018,525,940  $ - 0.00% $0.00
2014 1,231,393 $ 27,221,010,540 $ - 0.00% $0.00
2015 1,251,722 $ 27,907,630,030 $ - 0.00% $0.00
2016 1,264,518 $ 27,990,535,515 $ - 0.00% $0.00
2017 1,269,998 $ 31,177,066,170  $ - 0.00% $0.00
2018 1,291,981 $ 31,535,400,220 $ - 0.00% $0.00
2019 1,316,756 $ 31,952,055,140 % - 0.00% $0.00

* Information not available
(1) U. S. Census Bureau
(2) Source: Franklin County Auditor's Office

(3) The Authority's independently audited annual financial statements
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Computation of Direct and Overlapping General Obligation Debt
December 31, 2019

Franklin County Total Value $30,882,217,570
Licking County (City of Reynoldsburg) $207,442,570
Delaware County (Westerville & Columbus) $669,916,320
Fairfield County (Columbus and Reynoldsburg) $192,478,680
*Assessed Value for COTA =$ $31,952,055,140

*The above amounts are all less Tangible Personal

Percentage
Applicable to  Amount Applicable
Political Subdivision General Obligation Debt COTA to COTA
COTA - 100.0% -
Counties With Overlapping:
Delaware 43,056,800 11.15% 4,800,833
Fairfield 4,934,904 5.10% 251,680
Franklin 187,355,000 99.99% 187,336,265
Licking 28,720,908 4.63% 1,329,778
Cities wholly within COTA 1,990,760,000 100.0% 1,990,760,000
Cities with Overlapping:
City of Dublin 54,443,000 96.08% 50,817,096
Canal Winchester City 5,450,000 96.08% 5,236,360
Villages wholly within COTA 7,800,000 100.0% 7,800,000
Villages with Overlapping:
Townships wholly within COTA 12,286,000 100.0% 12,286,000
Townships with Overlapping:
Etna Township 2,000,000 40.56% 811,200
Genoa Township 6,220,000 0.01% 4,354
Madison Township 1,840,000 99.61% 1,832,824
Violet Township 13,080,000 4.84% 633,072
School Districts wholly within COTA 981,872,342 100.0% 981,872,342
School Districts with Overlapping:
Canal Winchester Local S.D. 43,005,680 78.51% 33,763,759
Dublin City S.D. 198,035,587 82.55% 163,478,377
Hilliard City S.D. 124,686,612 99.99% 124,674,143
Jonathan Alder Local S.D. 13,870,000 1.84% 255,208
Licking Heights Local S.D. 90,065,053 52.85% 47,599,381
Olentangy Local S.D. 340,863,054 8.06% 27,473,562
Pickerington Local S.D. 83,580,000 14.05% 11,742,990
New Albany-Plain Local S.D. 76,987,727 99.99% 76,980,028
Reynoldsburg City S.D. 75,444,987 98.79% 74,532,103
South-Western City S.D. 244,664,962 99.83% 244,249,032
Southwest Licking Locasl S.D. 78,530,000 0.00% 7,853
Teays Valley Local S.D. 24,870,000 0.33% 82,071
Westerville City S.D. 45,125,000 75.23% 33,947,538
Eastland Joint Vocational S.D. 700,000 62.95% 440,650
Licking County Joint Vocational S.D. 12,555,000 7.37% 925,304
Tolles Joint Vocational S.D. 1,534,928 72.58% 1,114,051
Special District with Overlapping:
New Albany/Plain Jnt Park District 2,939,476 99.99% 2,939,182
Solid Waste Authority of Central Ohio 63,005,000 98.38% 62,614,369
West Licking Fire District 1,685,000 17.70% 298,245
Total 4,152,889,651

Source: Ohio Municipal Advisory Council database

Notes: 1. Percentage applicable to COTA equals the Franklin County value of the political
subdivision divided by the total valuation. TY2018/CY2019 values are used.
2. General Obligation debt includes Limited and Unlimited issues except for City of Columubs (Limited only)
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

Demographic Statistics
Last Ten Fiscal Years

PER CAPITA MEDIAN K -12 SCHOOL UNEMPLOYMENT
YEAR POPULATION INCOME AGE ENROLLMENT RATE
(€} ) ® 4 ®)
2010 1,163,414 $38,170 33.4 208,698 9.6%
2011 1,173,158 $39,646 34.9 197,082 8.1%
2012 1,168,018 $42,624 33.6 192,902 6.7%
2013 1,195,537 $43,506 33.6 196,580 7.2%
2014 1,231,393 $45,158 33.8 218,349 4.8%
2015 1,251,722 $46,949 34.0 220,090 4.1%
2016 1,264,518 $48,150 34.0 233,148 4.0%
2017 1,269,998 $48,199 33.9 226,996 3.6%
2018 1,291,981 $49,448 33.4 172,106 3.8%
2019 1,316,756 * 34.1 182,800 3.5%

Note: All information presented is for Franklin County

* Information not available
Sources:

(1) U. S. Census Bureau

(2) U. S. Department of Commerce - Bureau of Economic Analysis

(3) U.S. Census Bureau

(4) Ohio Department of Education - Division of Information Management Services
(5) Ohio Department of Job and Family Services, Ohio Labor Market Information
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Fare Rate Structure
December 31, 2019

CASH OR TICKET FARES:

EXPIESS ..ottt ettt ettt et et e aeeenes $ 2.75
Local and CroSSIOWN .......ccuvviveieeiiiiiiiiee e 2.00
Project Mainstream ADA THP(L) «oovvveeirurreiiiieeaiiireesireeessineeessneeessneeas 3.50
Mainstream ON DEMANG ........uveeiiiiiieiiiiee e $1.00 per mile with a $5.00 minimum
TranSfer ..o, Free

DAY PASSES (2):

Ao U] ) N $ 4.50
HUMAN SEIVICE AQENCY (4) wivviuviiieiiiieeeiiieeeiiiee e et e anieea e sraea e sneaee e 4.00
Children over 48" and under 12 years old, Senior Discount Card (s),

(o] NG Y OF= T o [ PSP 2.25
SEVEN-DAY PASS ....ceiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie et 25.00

MONTHLY PASSES:

EXPIESS ..ottt ettt ettt ettt et e et e aeeanes $ 85.00
LOCAI .ttt a e e e 62.00
Project MaiNSrEAM (1) «..vvveeeirieeeiiieeeiiieeeeiiee e s ieee e stea e srtea e enaeee e snneee s 105.00
Senior Discount Card (5), Or Key Card (6) «......cvevvvuruneniriinineieeeeninnnn. 31.00

SPECIAL FARES:
Children over 48" and under 12 years old, Senior Discount Card (s),
OF KBY CAT (6) «-vvveererreeeiutieeeaitieeeeite e e sttt e e st a e st a e st e e e b e e s nnnreeeann) $ 1.00

Children under 48" tall Free
All ADA Card (7) recipients on fixed-route bus service only .... Free
(01210 T Free
Summer Youth Pass June 1 - AUQUSE 3L (8)....ccuuvreerrurrieiiiiieeiiiieeeiieee e 62.00

@

—

Door-to-door service on demand, in wheelchair lift-equipped paratransit mini-buses, for eligible
disabled riders holding an "ADA" card. ADA Trips are defined as trips originating 3/4 of a mile
or less from an existing fixed-route bus line that is in operation within the time of day and day
of the week. All other trips are considered a Non-ADA Trip.

(2
3
(4
(5
(6
(7
(8

—

Good for unlimited travel on all local/crosstown routes from time of validation until midnight

-

Additional $0.75 required for express service

=

Distributed by approved nonprofit service agencies for use by their clientele

-

Photo identification card, for riders aged 65 and over

-

Photo identification card, for eligible disabled riders

~

Photo identification card, for physically or mentally disabled riders for Project Mainstream service

-

Age 17 or younger, additional $0.75 required for express service
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Miscellaneous Statistics

For the Year ended December 31, 2019

Date of creation of Authority by local county
and municipal governmenNts ...............evvvvvvvviiiiiiiiineeeeeeenn February 17, 1971

Date of acquisition of assets of Columbus

Transit Company (C.T.C.) ..., June 29, 1973
Date of commencement of Authority operations ..................... January 1, 1974
Form of government ... Board of Trustees, with

fulltime President/CEO
Number of TIUSLEES .......ccooiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeee 12 (one vacancy)

County in which Authority operates .........cccvevvvvvvvviviivnvenininnnnn. Franklin County and small portions
of adjacent Delaware, Fairfield,
Union, and Licking Counties, Ohio

Type Of taX SUPPOIT .cceeiiieeiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee s Service Area Sales Tax -
1/4 % permanent
1/4 % temporary

Size Of AULNOTILY ..oooviiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 562 square miles

MiIlE€S Of FOULE ... 967.6

NUMDET Of TOULES ... 42

Number of bus stop locations .............ccccoeeviiiiiiiiiieeee, 3,043

Number of bus stop passenger shelters ..o, 416

Number of Park-and-Ride facilities .............ccccoooiivieiiiiinnnen. 25

Parking capacity, all Park-and-Ride facilities .............c............ 2,266

Number of active fleet BUSES ...........oooeiiiiiiiiii 322

Average bus vehicle age ..o 6

Average fixed-route system speed ...........cccoevvvvvvveviiiiiiiiinennnn, 13.66

Average fixed-route system fuel economy ..........cccceeeeeeeeeennn. 4.25

Number of customer information calls received ...................... 469,202

Source: The Authority's annual National Transit Database Report, filed with the Federal Transit Administration
Source: The Authority's non-financial operational statistics.
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14 East Main Street, Suite 500, Springfield, Ohio 45502
CPAS & ADVISORS P. 937.399.2000 | F 937.399.5433 | cshco.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS
BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

Board of Trustees
Central Ohio Transit Authority
Columbus, Ohio 43215

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the Central Ohio
Transit Authority (the Authority), which comprise the statement of net position as of December 31, 2019
and the related statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position and cash flows for the year
then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Authority’s
basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated July 27, 2020 wherein we noted the
potential financial impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on subsequent periods.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Authority’s internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control. Accordingly, we
do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Authority's financial statements are free
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material
effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance
with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an
opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are
required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

REMARKABLE



Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority's internal
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the Authority’s internal control and compliance.
Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Clark, faéaafe/g Hackett & Os,

Springfield, Ohio
July 27, 2020



14 East Main Street, Suite 500, Springfield, Ohio 45502
CPAS & ADVISORS P. 937.399.2000 | F 937.399.5433 | cshco.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR
EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM; REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER COMPLIANCE; AND REPORT ON THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES
OF FEDERAL AWARDS REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE

Board of Trustees
Central Ohio Transit Authority
Columbus, Ohio 43215

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

We have audited the Central Ohio Transit Authority’s (the Authority) compliance with the types of
compliance requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and
material effect on each of the Authority’s major federal programs for the year ended December 31, 2019.
The Authority’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

Management’s Responsibility
Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and
conditions of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the Authority’s major federal
programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted
our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued
by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of
Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Those standards and the Uniform Guidance
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance
with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect
on a major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the
Authority’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major
federal program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the Authority’s compliance.

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

In our opinion, the Authority complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the
year ended December 31, 2019.

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

Management of the Authority is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over
compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and performing our
audit of compliance, we considered the Authority’s internal control over compliance with the types of
requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major federal program to determine the
auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
compliance for each major federal program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in
accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control over compliance.

REMARKABLE 3



A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a
deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal
program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over
compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material
weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However,
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the
Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance

We have audited the financial statements of the Authority as of and for the year ended December 31,
2019, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Authority’s basic
financial statements. We issued our report thereon dated July 27, 2020, which contained an unmodified
opinion on those financial statements. Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on
the financial statements that collectively comprise the basic financial statements. The accompanying
schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required
by the Uniform Guidance and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is
the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting
and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to
the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures,
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves,
and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal awards is fairly stated in all
material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Clark, faéaafeﬁ, Hackett & Os,

Springfield, Ohio
July 27, 2020



CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
Year Ended December 31, 2019

Grantor/Title: CFDA # Grant #

U. S. Department of Transportation
Federal Transit Cluster
Federal Transit Administration (FTA):
Urbanized Area Formula Grants 20.507 OH-2017-026-00
20.507 OH-2018-037-00
20.507 OH-2019-002-00
20.507 OH-2019-029-00
Total Urbanized Area Formula Grants

Capital Investment Grants 20.500 OH-2016-001-01
20.500 OH-04-0089
Total Capital Investment Grants

Bus and Bus Facilities Formula Program 20.526 OH-2018-004-00
Total Bus and Bus Facilities Formula Program

Total Federal Transit Cluster

Transit Services Programs Cluster
U. S. Department of Transportation -
Federal Transit Administration (FTA):
Enhanced Mobility for Seniors and Individuals with Disabilities 20.513 0OH-2018-043-00

Total Transit Services Programs Cluster

Total U.S. Department of Transportation

Total Federal Financial Assistance

See notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards.

Federal
Expenditures

333,331
11,607,365
285,886
12,190,486

24,417,068

(7,291)
98,807

91,516
511,156

511,156

25,019,740

150,122

150,122

25,169,862

25,169,862




CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
Year Ended December 31, 2019

1. GENERAL

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (Schedule) presents the activity
of all federal financial assistance programs of the Authority. The Authority’s reporting entity is
defined in Note 1 to the Authority’s financial statements.

The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S.
Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the
Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the Authority, it is not intended to,
and does not, present the financial position, activities and cash flows of the Authority for the year
ended December 31, 2019.

2. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The accompanying Schedule is presented using the accrual basis of accounting. Such
expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance,
wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement.
Negative amounts shown on the Schedule represent adjustments or credits made in the normal
course of business to amounts reported as expenditures in prior years.

The Authority has elected not to use the 10 percent de minimis indirect cost rate to recover indirect
costs as allowed under the Uniform Guidance.

Pass-through entity identifying numbers are presented where available. In addition, the Authority
did not pass-through any federal awards to subrecipients during the year ended December 31,
2019.

3. MATCHING REQUIREMENTS
Certain federal programs require the Authority to contribute non-federal funds (matching funds) to
support federally-funded programs. The Authority has complied with the matching requirements.
The expenditures of non-federal (matching) funds are not included on the Schedule.

4. RELATIONSHIP OF FEDERAL FINANCIAL REPORTS

Amounts reported in the accompanying Schedule agree with the amounts reported in the related
federal financial reports.



Central Ohio Transit Authority

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs

Section | - Summary of Auditors’ Results

Financial Statements

Type of auditors’ report issued:

Internal control over financial reporting:

e Material weakness(es) identified?

¢ Significant deficiency(ies) identified not
considered to be material weakness(es)?

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?

Federal Awards

Internal control over major programs:

o Material weakness(es) identified?

¢ Significant deficiency(ies) identified not
considered to be material weakness(es)?

Type of auditors’ report issued on compliance for major programs:

Any audit findings that are required to be reported in accordance
with 2 CFR 200.516(a)?

Identification of major programs:

Federal Transit Cluster:
CFDA 20.500 — Capital Investment Program Grants
CFDA 20.507 — Urbanized Area Formula Grants
CFDA 20.526 — Bus and Bus Facilities Formula Program

Dollar threshold to distinguish between Type A and Type B programs:

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?

Section Il - Financial Statement Findings

None noted

Section Il — Federal Awards Findings and Questioned Costs

None noted

December 31, 2019

Unmodified
None noted

None noted

None noted

None noted

None noted

Unmodified

None noted

$755,096

Yes
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14 East Main Street, Suite 500, Springfield, Ohio 45502
CPAS & ADVISORS P. 937.399.2000 | F 937.399.5433 | cshco.com

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT ON
APPLYING AGREED-UPON PROCEDURES

The Board of Trustees
Central Ohio Transit Authority
Columbus, Ohio 43215

We have performed the applicable procedures enumerated in the Federal Funding Allocation Statistics
Form (FFA-10), which were agreed to by the Central Ohio Transit Authority (the Authority) and the
Federal Transit Administration (FTA), solely to assist you in complying with the reporting requirements of
the Declarations section of the 2019 Policy Manual, for the year ended December 31, 2019. Management
of the Authority is responsible for compliance with the requirements of the Uniform System of Accounts
(USOA) and Records and Reporting System, Final Rule, as specified in 49 CFR Part 630, Federal
Register, January 15, 1993, and as presented in the 2019 Policy Manual. The Authority’s management is
responsible for the Authority’s accounting records. This agreed-upon procedures engagement was
conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The sufficiency of these procedures is solely the responsibility of the Authority and
the FTA. Consequently, we make no representation regarding the sufficiency of the procedures in the
attached appendix, either for the purpose for which this report has been requested or for any other
purpose.

FTA has established the following standards with regard to the data reported to it in the Federal Funding
Allocation Statistics Form of the Authority’s annual National Transit Database (NTD) report:

e A system is in place and maintained for recording data in accordance with NTD definitions. The

correct data are being measured and no systematic errors exist.

A system is in place to record data on a continuing basis, and the data gathering is an ongoing

effort.

e Source documents are available to support the reported data and are maintained for FTA review
and audit for a minimum of three years following FTA's receipt of the NTD report. The data are
fully documented and securely stored.

e A system of internal controls is in place to ensure the data collection process is accurate and that
the recording system and reported comments are not altered. Documents are reviewed and
signed by a supervisor, as required.

e The data collection methods are those suggested by FTA or otherwise meet FTA requirements.

e The deadhead miles, computed as the difference between the reported total actual vehicle miles
data and the reported total actual VRM data, appear to be accurate.

e Data are consistent with prior reporting periods and other facts known about transit agency
operations.

The procedures were applied separately to each of the information systems used to develop the reported
vehicle revenue miles, passenger miles and operating expenses of the Authority for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2019 for each of the following active modes:

e Motor Bus — Directly Operated
e Demand Response — Purchased Transportation

The following information and findings came to our attention as a result of performing the procedures
described in the attachment to this report:

None Noted

REMARKABLE 8



We were not engaged to and did not conduct an examination, the objective of which would be the
expression of an opinion on compliance with the requirements of the Uniform System of Accounts And
Records and Reporting System, Final Rule, as specified in 49 CFR Part 630, Federal Register, January
15, 1993, and as presented in the 2019 Policy Manual for the year ended December 31, 2019.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion. Had we performed additional procedures, other matters might
have come to our attention that would have been reported to you.

This report relates only to the information described above and does not extend to the Authority’s
financial statements taken as a whole, or the forms in the Authority’s NTD report, other than the Federal
Funding Allocation Statistics Form, for any date or period.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Authority’s management, the Auditor of

State of Ohio and the Federal Transit Administration and is not intended to be, and should not be, used
by anyone other than these specified parties.

Clark, Sehaefer, fackett & (o,

Springfield, Ohio
July 27, 2020



Section 9 Certification — Agreed-Upon Procedures

1.

Discussed procedures related to the system for reporting and maintaining data in accordance
with the NTD requirements and definitions set forth in 49 CFR Part 630, Federal Register,
January 15, 1993 and as presented in the 2019 Policy Manual. If procedures were not written,
discussed the procedures with the personnel assigned responsibility of supervising the NTD data
preparation and maintenance.

Discussed the procedures with the personnel assigned responsibility of supervising the
preparation and maintenance of NTD data to determine:
e The extent to which the transit agency followed the procedures on a continuous basis,
and
e Whether they believe such procedures result in accumulation and reporting of data
consistent with the NTD definitions and requirements set forth in 49 CFR Part 630,
Federal Register, and January 15, 1993 and as presented in the 2019 Policy Manual.

Inquired of same personnel concerning the retention policy that is followed by the transit agency
with respect to source documents supporting the NTD data reported on the Federal Funding
Allocation Statistics form.

Based on a description of Authority’s procedures obtained in items 1 and 2 above, identified all
the source documents which are to be retained by the Authority for a minimum of three years. For
each type of source document, selected three months out of the year and observed that each
type of document exists for each of these periods.

Discussed the system of internal controls with the person responsible for supervising and
maintaining the NTD data. Inquired whether individuals, independent of the individuals preparing
source documents and posting data summaries, review the source documents and data
summaries for completeness, accuracy and reasonableness and how often such reviews are
performed.

We did not review selected source documents to ascertain whether signatures were present as
the Authority does not review hard copy documents. Data is prepared using the scheduling and
Automatic Passenger Counters (APC) system. The annual analytical review is performed online
by someone independent of the data entry in lieu of signatures. Evidence of this online review
and other review of electronic reports was noted.

Obtained the worksheets utilized by the Authority to prepare the final data that is transcribed onto
the Federal Funding Allocation Statistics form. Compared the periodic data included on the
worksheets to the periodic summaries prepared by the Authority. Tested the arithmetical
accuracy of the summaries.

Discussed the Authority’s procedures for accumulating and recording passenger miles traveled
(PMT) data in accordance with NTD requirements with the Authority’s staff, noting that the
Authority uses an estimate of passenger miles based on statistical sampling that meets the FTA's
95% confidence and 10% precision requirements. The Authority uses an alternative sampling
procedure and, therefore, we inquired whether the procedure was approved by the FTA.

Discussed with transit agency staff the Authority’s eligibility to conduct statistical sampling for
PMT data every third year. Determined whether the Authority meets one of the three criteria that
allow transit agencies to conduct statistical samples for accumulating PMT data every third year
rather than annually. However, the Authority has elected to conduct statistical samples on an
annual basis.

10



10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

Obtained a description of the sampling procedure for estimation of PMT data used by the
Authority. We were informed that the Authority’s sampling procedures for the estimation of
passenger mile data is substantially as described in the Authority’s letter, submitted to the FTA,
dated April 27, 1987. We noted no exceptions to the stated sampling procedures described in the
above letter.

Obtained the passenger mile sample information generated from the APC system and, based on
this information, recalculated the passenger miles for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Discussed the procedures for systematic exclusion of charter, school bus, and other ineligible
vehicle miles from the calculation of actual vehicle revenue miles with Authority’s staff, noting this
requirement is not applicable to the Authority.

For actual vehicle revenue mile (VRM) data, documented the collection and recording
methodology and determined that deadhead miles are systematically excluded from the
computation.

Compared operating expenses with audited financial data, after reconciling items were removed.

Inquired of personnel reporting the NTD data regarding the amount of purchased transportation
(PT) generated fare revenues. Noted the PT fare revenues agreed to the amount reported on the
Contractual Relationship form (B-30).

Obtained a copy of the PT contract and determined that the contract (1) specified the specific
public transportation services to be provided; (2) specified the monetary consideration obligated
by the transit agency contracting for the service; (3) specified the period covered by the contract
and that this period overlaps the entire, or a portion of, the period covered by the Authority’s NTD
report; and (4) was signed by representatives of both parties to the contract. Inquired of the
person responsible for the retention of the executed contract, and determined that copies of the
contracts are retained for three years.

Compared the data reported on the Federal Funding Allocation Statistics Form to comparable
data for the prior period report year and calculated the percentage change from the prior year to
the current year. Fluctuations greater than 10% were investigated and explained and reported to
NTD.

The following 2019 Policy Manual Section 9 test procedures were not applicable to the Authority
and, therefore, were not performed:

e Reporting Manual Section 9 Data Certification Procedures; n, 0, p, q, r, s, t, w, and y.

11



CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

FRANKLIN COUNTY

AUDITOR OF STATE OF OHIO CERTIFICATION

This is atrue and correct copy of the report, which is required to be filed pursuant to Section
117.26, Revised Code, and which is filed in the Office of the Ohio Auditor of State in Columbus,
Ohio.

Certified for Release 9/15/2020

88 East Broad Street, Columbus, Ohio 43215
Phone: 614-466-4514 or 800-282-0370

This report is a matter of public record and is available online at
www.ohioauditor.gov
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